

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Quality of Life, Physical Activity, and Weight Status for a Sample of Online Students

Walaa Awad Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Walaa Awad

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Jill Nolan, Committee Chairperson, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Carol Spaulding, Committee Member, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Hugh Campbell, University Reviewer, Health Education and Promotion Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Quality of Life, Physical Activity, and Weight Status for a Sample of Online Students

by

Walaa Awad

A00548617

MS, University Of Michigan, 2011

MD, Tanta University, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Health Education and Promotion

Global Health

Walden University

November 2020

Abstract

Obesity has been identified as a global health problem and a risk factor for many chronic diseases. While previous studies discussed the weight status and factors associated with overweight and obesity among adults enrolled in traditional universities, few studies have yet estimated the obesity rate among adults who choose online education. Guided by the social cognitive theory, this descriptive exploratory quantitative study used a survey to collect primary data from adult online students of three higher educational institution. The survey examined the effect of quality of life and physical activity level on weight status of the participants; taking in consideration the effects of age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study on the weight status. The results of the binary logistic regression model indicate that quality of life was a statistically significant predictor of weight status (OR = .429, 95% CI = .200 - .921, p =.030), while physical activity level (OR = .807, 95% CI = .354 - 1.843, p = .612) wasn't statistically significant; holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students. The results of this study could enrich academic research through better understanding of quality of life, physical activity, and weight status of adults in online education. The findings from this study may support positive social change by providing findings that can promote prevention and promotion programs aimed at empowering online students to practice healthy lifestyles based on their gender, age, ethnicity, employment status, and educational level. Such programs may enhance the adoption of healthy lifestyles and positive behavior change targeting adults in online education.

Quality of Life, Physical Activity, and Weight Status for a Sample of Online Students

by

Walaa Awad

A00548617

MS, University Of Michigan, 2011

MD, Tanta University, 2002

Proposal Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Education and Promotion

Global Health

Walden University

November 2020

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my children, my family, and my friends for their constant support and unconditional love. The unwavering support of those individuals around me was a motivating force to keep me going when I got weary. I am forever grateful for all of them.

Acknowledgments

I thank Allah for granting me the power and blessings to successfully completing this degree. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my Committee Chair, Dr. Jill Nolan, for her continuous support, guidance, motivation, thorough feedback on my writing, and immense knowledge. Thanks Dr. Nolan; your leadership has helped me in all the time of research and in writing of this dissertation. I would like to thank my dissertation committee members: Dr. Carol Spaulding for her insightful comments, detailed recommendations; I am eternally grateful for Dr. Spaulding patience and support as I was trying to address various research challenges. I also want to thank Dr. David Campbell for his guidance and support.

I have to acknowledge and thank my parents for their contious prayers and support; my wonderful children (Yusuf, Adam, and Hana) for their outsannding support and endless love. Finally, I express my warmest appreciation to my awesome friends and my brilliant collegues at Baker College for their amazing support throughout this long process.

| List of Tables | v |
|-------------------------------------|----|
| List of Figures | vi |
| Chapter 1 | 1 |
| Introduction | 1 |
| Background | 2 |
| Problem Statement | 3 |
| Purpose of the Study | 5 |
| Research Question and Hypothesis | 6 |
| Theoretical Framework for the Study | 7 |
| Nature of the Study | 8 |
| Definitions | 9 |
| Assumptions | 10 |
| Scope and Delimitations | 11 |
| Limitations | 11 |
| Internal Validity | 12 |
| External Validity | 13 |
| Significance | 13 |
| Summary | 14 |
| Chapter 2 | 16 |
| Introduction | 16 |
| Literature Search Strategy | 16 |

Table of Contents

| Theoretical Foundation | 17 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) | 17 |
| Literature Review Related to Key Variables | |
| Obesity is a Global Health Problem | 19 |
| Variables affecting Increasing Obesity Rates | 21 |
| Health of College/University Students | |
| Online Education | |
| Health Related Quality of Life | |
| Physical Activity | |
| Summary and Conclusions | |
| Chapter 3 | |
| Introduction | |
| Research Design and Rationale | |
| Methodology | 41 |
| Population | 41 |
| Sampling and Sampling Procedures | |
| Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection | 44 |
| Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs | |
| Operational Definitions | 47 |
| Demographic Information | 47 |
| Dependent Variable (Weight Status) | 47 |
| Covariate Variables | 48 |

| Independent Variables | 49 |
|---------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Data Analysis Plan | 54 |
| Statistical Tests | 55 |
| Threats to Validity | 57 |
| Threats to Internal validity | 57 |
| Threats to External Validity | 57 |
| Ethical Procedures | |
| Dissemination of Findings | |
| Summary and Transition | |
| Chapter 4 | 60 |
| Introduction | 60 |
| Data Collection | 61 |
| Results | 63 |
| Descriptive Statistics | |
| Inferential Statistics | 67 |
| Summary | 71 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 73 |
| Introduction | 73 |
| Interpretation of Findings | 73 |
| Limitations of the Study | |
| Recommendations | 79 |
| Implications for Social Change | |

| Conclusion | |
|-------------------------------------------------|--|
| References | |
| Appendix A: Survey | |
| Appendix B: Description of Operational Measures | |

List of Tables

| Table 1 | Descriptive Analysis | 64 |
|---------|----------------------------|----|
| | | |
| Table 2 | Binary Logistic Regression | 70 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1 | priori power | analysis, s | sample size | calculations | .44 |
|----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|-----|
|----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|-----|

Chapter 1

Introduction

This study explored quality of life, physical activity, and weight status among a convenience sample of adult online students registered at three higher education institutions (HEI); as a reference, I used the following abbreviations, HEI 1, HEI 2, HEI 3 to code the three institutions; taking in consideration the effects of age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study on the weight status of the participants. While previous studies have discussed weight status and the factors associated with overweight and obesity among adults enrolled in traditional universities, few studies have yet explored weight status among adults in online education. Guided by social cognitive theory (SCT), this descriptive exploratory quantitative study used a survey to collect primary data from adult online students. The study analyzed quality of life and physical activity of the participants to better understand the relationships between the variables and the potential effect of the covariates on weight status. The study aimed for bringing positive social change to adults in online education by designing and implementing health education programs that promote the adoption of positive quality of life and promoting physical activities tailored directly to adults in online education.

This chapter will introduce the research study with an overview for the scope of the study. The first segment of the chapter consists of the study background, problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and hypothesis. The next segment presents Social Cognitive Theory and its application to the study. The following section contains the nature of the study, definitions, variables, assumptions, study scope, and limitations. The last section of this chapter explains the significance of the study in the advancement of health education knowledge and the contribution to positive social change.

Background

Obesity has been linked to hypertension, coronary heart diseases, some forms of cancer, diabetes, and stroke (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2016; National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention, 2015; Ndumele et al., 2016; Ogden, Carroll, Kit, & Flegal, 2014). The medical expenditures associated with obesity among adults in the United States (U.S.) have been estimated at 147 billion dollars annually (CDC, 2016). The rapid increases in the obesity rate has become a major global health problem, particularly in the United States (Akushevich et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2015). Globally, there are almost 1 billion people with obesity and another 396 million who are overweight (Hu et al., 2017).

While traditional education has been associated with a low risk of obesity (Marmot, 2015), it is unclear whether online education would have the same effect on obesity statistics among adults. This study assessed the quality of life, physical activity, and weight status among a convenience sample of adult online students registered at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3; taking into consideration the effects of age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study on the weight status of the participants.

While many studies have discussed the factors associated with overweight and obesity among students enrolled in traditional universities, few studies have yet estimated the weight status among adults in online education. The study used self-reported height and weight to calculate the Body Mass Index (BMI) of the participants and to assess the weight status among the participants. The study analyzed the reported quality of life and the physical activity of the participants to investigate the significance of online education on weight status. The results of this study explored the quality of life, physical activity level, and weight status of adults in online education. Findings might help health educators to design intervention programs to promote the adoption of healthy eating habits and physical activity behaviors tailored directly to adults in online education. Prevention of obesity and managing all the negative health consequences associated with high body weight are essential factors for reducing the mortality and morbidity rates related to obesity (Grover et al., 2015). The results from this study could help policymakers and higher educational institutions to develop obesity prevention programs to empower adult online students to practice healthy lifestyles based on their age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study; such programs could contribute to the reduction of obesity rates.

Problem Statement

Obesity is a global health problem that threatens the sustainability of healthcare systems worldwide (Ferretti, 2017). According to the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD, 2017), there is a steady increase in the global obesity rate, where 47% of the United States (US) population are projected to be obese by 2030. Obesity increases the risk of many chronic diseases, negatively impacts quality of life, increases the cost of the healthcare, and generally adds to the severity of disease seen in the US healthcare system (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2014).

According to the WHO (2018), the obesity rate has tripled globally since 1975, with more than 1.9 billion (39%) adults around the world (18 years and over) being overweight and more than 600 million (13%) obese. Amiri (2018) defined the association between obesity and Health Related Quality of life (HRQOL) as the individual's subjective evaluation for their overall physical and mental wellbeing. While previous studies have reported an adverse association between obesity and quality of life mainly in the physical domain; Zhang (2019), reported that overweight and obesity were negatively associated with HRQOL, and that there is a need for targeted interventions conducted mainly for women, to reduce the obesity effects associated with poor HRQOL. According to Sells (2016), despite the evidence that regular physical activity may reduce obesity and its complications, many Americans do not participate in regular physical activity, with an estimated 21%, only, of U.S. adults achieve the recommended physical activity level.

According to the CDC (2016), weight status is affected by educational levels, with higher levels of education associated with lower rates of obesity, with graduate students having optimal Body Mass Index (BMI) compared to undergraduate students. Swanson (2016) stated that the college period is a critical time for obesity and weight gain. In the United States, 89% of the colleges and universities offer online courses, and of those institutions, 58% provide degree programs that are entirely online (Parker, Lenhart & Moore, 2011). Also, Allen & Seaman (2017) stated that registration for online courses in United States significantly increased in 2015, with 29.7% of all students in higher education were taking at least one online education course, representing a 3.9% increase from 2014.

According to Chen, Lambert, & Guidry (2010), the majority of online students are nontraditional learners who are balancing their life and work commitments, and choose to study online for the convenience that online education offers. Also, adult students who choose online education tend to have higher self-efficacy compared to students who choose traditional education (Xie & Huang, 2014), they tend to be more self-determined (Collins, 2014), and have defined future goals (Carr, 2000). Cohen, Rai, Rehkopff, and Abrams (2013) stated that there is a major gap in the literature studying the relationship between online education and weight status.

With the significant rise of online education, it is essential to explore the quality of life, physical activity level, and weight status for adults in online education. Also, considering the

importance of health education programs in targeting the global obesity problem, there is a need to understand the extent of the problem among adults who choose online education. The study provided a statistically significant result for bridging the gap in literature by exploring the predictor effect of quality of life and physical activity on the weight status of adults in online education; considering online educational institutions as channels that may help in delivering obesity prevention programs and promoting positive quality of life. Finally, the results of the research may open the door for future researchers to develop hypotheses for more studies and intervention programs targeting the health outcomes of adult online students

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this descriptive, exploratory, quantitative study was to 1) explore the weight status among sample of adult online students; based on self-reported body weight and height, 2) describe the relationship between the participants' demographics (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study) and the weight status of the participants, 3) explore the relationship between the Health-Related Quality of Life and the weight status of the participants, and 4) explore the relationship between physical activity level and the weight status/BMI of the participants.

The constructs of the SCT served as a theoretical framework for understanding quality of life, physical activity level, and weight status of the participants. The study used an online survey to collect data from participants who were defined as adults (18 years and older), currently enrolled in an online graduate or undergraduate education program at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. The researcher completed the IRB applications for HEI 1 and HEI 3, and also completed the Human Subject Review Board (HSRB) for of HEI 2.

This study used an online survey (questionnaire) to collect data from a convenience sample of participants who were identified as adult online students at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. The dependent variable for this study was weight status, calculated using self-reported height and weight. The independent (predictor) variables were the health-related quality of life and physical activity levels. The covariate variables were age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study.

The statistical analysis that was most appropriate to answer the research question was Binary Logistic Regression. While descriptive research is designed to provide a snapshot of the problem, Binary Logistic Regression is designed to make prediction in the dichotomous outcome variable (Warner, 2013), which allow researchers to determine the odds of membership in the dependent variable based on predictor variables (Warner, 2013). Therefore, the overall significance of using this analysis was to explore the weight status of online students and its relationship with quality of life and physical activity.

Research Question and Hypothesis

In this descriptive exploratory quantitative research, the researcher used binary logistic regression analysis to assess whether the independent variables predict the dependent dichotomous outcome variable (weight Status). The following research question and hypotheses were the guide for this research study:

RQ: Are Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students?

H01: Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity are not significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Ha1: Health-Related quality of life (HRQOL) and physical activity are significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Theoretical Framework for the Study

The role of theory in research studies is to explain and simplify the underlying principles that explain particular human actions in life (McKenzie et al., 2009). The theoretical framework for this study was Bandura's (1977) Social Cognitive Theory, which evolved from the social learning theory. According to Bandura (1986), SCT is a learning theory that addresses the reciprocal relationship and interaction among individual's characteristics, behaviors, and environment, while emphasizing on the active role of each individual (Bandura, 2001. PP1-26). According to Reisi et al. (2016), individuals are more motivated to engage in positive behaviors if they believe they would benefit from those behaviors. Using the constructs of the SCT to frame this study was helpful in predicting the social origin of the obesity problem among adults who choose online education and might be effective for estimating the influence of the individual experiences (the online education) on obesity. Also, the SCT could be used as a framework for planning health education programs, which engage health educators actively in addressing the obesity prevalence, as the theory considering the person's experiences (online education) and any associated behaviors (quality of life and exercise habits) that may contribute to obesity.

Nature of the Study

The researcher used a quantitative approach to examine the relationship between HRQOL, physical activity levels, and weight status among a convenience sample of adult online students. A quantitative study uses or collects numerical data for analysis using statistical methods (Creswell, 2009). This method was applied because it enabled the identification of all factors that might be contributing to the escalating obesity problem among adults. This study was a descriptive, exploratory, quantitative research that used a survey (questionnaire) to collect data from a convenience sample of participants who identified as undergraduates and graduate online college students at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. The choice of the study to be quantitative was to provide a chance to collect data that might be useful for future research and to understand the extent of the obesity problem among the target population.

The survey asked the participants to self-report their height and weight. All metrics were accepted, and the BMI was manually calculated. The BMI calculator of the CDC which includes both English and Metric options for accurate calculation of the BMI was used. Participants were also asked to report some demographics (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study), physical activity levels and their health-related quality of life. The quantitative design used a binary logistic regression to determine whether a statistically significant relationship exists between the dichotomous dependent variable (weight status) and the independent variables (HRQOL, Physical Activity), when accounting for covariates variables (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study). Binary logistic regression was useful for this study because two or more independent variables were used to predict dichotomized dependent variable (weight status). A full clarification on how the variables were dichotomized and the types of analysis used is discussed in detail in chapter three.

Weight status was dichotomized into two categories (BMI <18.5-24.9 {underweight, normal weight}, and BMI> 25{Overweight, obesity}). Unhealthy days were dichotomized to (0) no unhealthy days per month vs. (1) reporting of one or more unhealthy days (1–30) per month. Finally, the physical activity levels were categorized into low level, moderate level, and high level.

Definitions

Terms related to the research were defined as follows:

Body mass index (BMI): A person's weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters, it is used as a relative measure for body weight. (CDC, 2015).

College: "An independent higher learning institution leading to a bachelor's degree, by offering a course of general studies" (College, 2015).

Health-related Quality of Life (HRQL): An instrument or scale that encompasses different aspects of overall quality of life that can be clearly affect health—either physical or mental (CDC, 2011).

Health promotion: any combination of previously planned educational, regulatory, or organizational mechanisms that promote health among individuals, groups, or populations (McKenzie et al., 2009, p. 4).

Higher education: Education associated with community college, college, or university courses or programs post-secondary education (Adams & Brynteson, 1995)

IPAQ: The International Physical Activity Questionnaire assessed physical activity associated behaviors for the past week and has been validated for use in adults aged 18-64 in the United States and internationally (Craig, Marshall, Sjostrom, & Bauman, 2003).

Lifestyle: Individuals' habits and behaviors, such as smoking, diet, exercise, and alcohol use (Fahey, Insel, & Roth, 2015).

Obesity: Body weight that is higher than what is considered as a healthy weight for a given height, it is a BMI of 30.0 or higher (CDC, 2017).

Overweight: Body weight that is higher than what is considered as a healthy weight for a given height, with a BMI range from 25.0 to <30.0 (CDC, 2017)).

Physical Activity: any body movement produced by skeletal muscles and requiring energy expenditure. Includes and not limited to walking, cycling, sports and recreation, which can be done at any level of skill and for enjoyment (WHO, 2020).

Assumptions

This study investigated quality of life, physical activity, and weight status of participants who were identified as adult online students. The proposed study provided insight for understanding the role of online education in controlling the obesity prevalence and it may open the door for future researchers to develop hypotheses for more studies and intervention programs targeting adults in online education. According to the research problem and the purpose of the study, the appropriate population was selected and the research question was clearly written. The following were the assumptions for the study:

 BMI is lower in males compared to females in the sample of adult online students. According to the WHO (2019), in 2016, 39% of adults aged 18 years and over (39% of men and 40% of women) were overweight, compared to 11% of men and 15% of women were obese. Therefore, assumption for the results of this study that males have healthier weight status compared to females. • There is a significant relationship between quality of life, physical activity, and weight status among the participants.

Scope and Delimitations

This study investigated quality of life, physical activity, and weight status of the participants who were identified as adult online students. The proposed study may provide vital information for bridging the gap in understanding factors related to obesity prevalence in a sample of online students and may open the door for future researchers to develop hypotheses for more studies and intervention programs targeting adults in online education. Based on the research problem and the purpose of the study, adult students in online education programs were selected. Students in traditional classroom settings were not included in this research. The researcher assumed that the participants provided honest and complete responses to the survey questions.

The purpose of the study was to explore the weight status among adults in online education. The scope of this study was limited to adults, 18 years of age and older, who were identified as online students at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. The weight status of the participants was unknown prior to the study, and a convenience sample of the participants recruited to complete the survey for the purpose of this research study, only. The findings of this research study add to the growing body of literature on global obesity rates and the environmental factors contributing to this problem

Limitations

This study used self-reported data from a convenience sample recruited through the Participant Pool of HEI 1 and through invitation letters sent to students enrolled at HEI 2 and HEI 3. While this methodology was appropriate to explore this research question, there were some limitations. Convenience sampling could lead to a non-representative sample (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). While most of these students were taking online classes, it was assumed that they would be capable of reading and responding to an online survey, however questions about weight and height could be sensitive information that may have led to issues with social desirability bias (Ivaz, Griffin, & Duñabeitia, 2019). Additionally, while BMI is commonly used to measure weight status, it is not the most ideal measurement to assess the weight status (Ghosh-Dastidar, 2016)

Internal Validity

Internal validity refers to the factors that may threaten internal validity of experiments including history and selection of subjects (Hagstromer, Oja & Sjostrom, 2005). Since the study was descriptive, exploratory, and non-experimental; there was minimal potential threats to internal validity. Convenience sampling technique used to recruit participants and convenience samples may yield threats because the researcher would have no way for estimating how representative the population is in the sample (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). In addition, using online surveys is a significant limitation for quantitative research due to limited response rates and increased risk of biases including selective memory and exaggeration biases. Because cross sectional research studies explore specific variables at specific moment in time, it is difficult to generalize the results to the whole population (Rahman, 2017). The unhealthy days summary measured ranges from 0-30 days, and the study might have lost statistical power by using only two categories to collapse the recorded days. Since participants were self-selected by agreeing to participate, this could be a potential threat to the internal validity. Such problems were addressed by recruiting students from three different higher education institutions, by using statistical techniques to determine if variables were distributed normally and finally by selecting

a sample size large enough to provide the power needed to detect any significant differences among the participants.

External Validity

For this study, the selection of study participants and survey design was controlled by certain criteria; however, participants might have answered the survey questions incorrectly to indicate better weight status or improved levels of physical activity which might in turn influence the data they provided on the survey. Using BMI as a standard to determine obesity has limitations; in fact, self-reported height and weight may have caused systemic bias; while some participants might not know their exact height and weight, others might intentionally misreport to fit the social norms (Ghosh-Dastidar, 2016). My assumption is that the participants were honest in filling out the survey questions. Finally, speaking more than one language could be served as an emotional buffer that might made bilinguals feel uncomfortable when dealing with sensitive and emotional topics (Ivaz, Griffin, & Duñabeitia, 2019). Since, the study administered in English, participants whom English is not the first language might felt uncomfortable sharing their personal information.

Significance

The significance of the study was to build upon the knowledge base for the relationships between quality of life, physical activity levels, and weight status, for adults who choose online education. As available studies provided insufficient data on weight status and obesity among adults in online education, this study was intended to bring out data on the weight status of adults in online education, in relation to quality of life and physical activity level. The study aimed to promote awareness to the growing problem of obesity with the rapid evolution of technology, internet, and online education. The principles of positive social change guide health educators in planning and applying health promotion programs to assist consumers in self-regulation without compromising their self-knowledge, identities, and interests (Cronin, 2014). Therefore, the results from this study may help policy makers and higher educational institutions develop obesity prevention programs aimed at empowering online students to practice healthy lifestyles based on their gender, age, ethnicity, social status, and educational level. Such programs may enhance the adoption of obesity-reducing lifestyles and consistent positive behavior change targeting adults in online education.

As Positive Social Change (PSC) is defined as the process of positively transforming thoughts, behaviors, institutions, and social structure to generate beneficial outcomes for individuals, communities, societies, and the environment (Stephan & Patterson, 2016); the results from this research study could help explore the health of online students, and identify the at-risk groups within the online education environment. A better understanding of the associated variables in the study and the roles they play to cause obesity may guide the development of interventions that use the results of this study to promote healthy weight status among online adult students. Walden University believes that positive social change occurs when individuals are firmly committed to make a difference and to act for change (PR, 2013). Exploring the relationship between students' weight status and online education could provide a better understanding of the relationship between the available resources, the students' needs, and the possible actions to achieve better health outcomes for all adults who chose online education.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I have discussed the background of the study, the problem statement, the purpose of the research, and nature of the study. Additionally, I have outlined the research question, the significance of the study, and the theoretical framework. With the global increase in

obesity rates especially among adults, there is a lack of understanding the effect of online education on the determinants of health that may cause obesity among adults who choose online education. Understanding the magnitude of the problem of obesity and exploring the obesogenic factors is important in working towards controlling this health problem. Although with this study, the focus is on adults in online education, exploring and understanding the weight status of the study population may add to the public health knowledge for obesity prevention. Positive social change can be achieved in the form of improving the quality of life, and promoting physical activity to reduce the prevalence of obesity. The findings may inform public health professionals and policy makers with a better understanding of how to design programs to enhance positive outcomes for the target population. In addition, the study contributes to the knowledge of obesity, HRQOL, and physical activity among online adult students and provides a better understanding of the existing literature in a different population, time, and location to reduce obesity rates, control chronic disease, and improve the health outcomes of adults.

Chapter 2 provides a comprehensive review of the previous and current peer-reviewed research related to adults' obesity, online education, level of physical activity, and quality of life. Also, the SCT is explored to better understand the motives and the determinants related to activity levels and eating habits among adults. Chapter 3 presents a description of the methods and analysis tools associated with this study. Chapter 4 details the results of the study and chapter 5 discusses those results within the context of the review of literature and makes suggestions for further studies.

Chapter 2

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to present a synopsis of the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT), in addition to an extensive literature review. The chapter contains four sections. The first section provides a summary for the strategy used for literature review. The second section describes the SCT and the rationale for using the theory as a foundation for the study. The third section examines previous and current peer-reviewed literature discussed adults' obesity, online education, level of physical activity, and health related quality of life. The fourth section summarizes the correlations between literature sections, identifies gap in the literature, and presents a transition into Chapter 3.

Literature Search Strategy

The search strategy utilized for the literature review was adopted from the Boolean system (Whitesitt, 1961); that uses keywords and phrases to search and obtain data. The literature review involved a search of peer-reviewed articles published in English between 2015 and 2019. However, a few older sources were used, as needed, for their valuable information. All searches were conducted electronically and I expanded the search to date beyond 5 years to access more literature related to the study.

The keywords and phrases used included obesity, global obesity, online education, social change, physical activity, university/college health education, college physical education, HRQOL, IPAQ, and Social Cognitive Theory. I have performed literature searches using four databases which are the online library of Walden University, EBSCO, PubMed, and Google Scholar. In addition, the CDC, Department of Health and Human Services, and the WHO sites were also extensively searched. I have also contacted Dr. Shelley Armstrong from Walden

University to receive a copy from her approved study on the health services provided to online students. Most of the articles collected and used in literature review were in regard to the obesity statistics nationally and globally, the value of health education in promoting better health outcomes among adults in traditional education, the need of increasing physical activity and improving eating habits among adult students. A noticeable gap was observed in regarding the obesity rate among adults who choose online education, this includes statistics on their physical activities, eating habits, and any health education services offered to them.

Theoretical Foundation

Social Cognitive Theory (SCT)

Social cognitive theory (SCT) proposes that individual's behaviors, personal and environmental factors work to impact the behavior outcomes (Boyle et al., 2011). As a result, anticipation of the behavioral outcomes might be achieved by learning, observation, and developing confidence in self- efficacy in order to adjust personal behavior (Boyle et al., 2011). According to Rovniak, Anderson, Winett, & Stephens, (2002), there is a positive relationship exists between the constructs of the SCT and physical activity levels, with self-efficacy showing the strongest correlation with performing physical activity.

Although the number of programs promoting physical activities in higher education has decreased over the last few decades, several college/university-based interventions that do exist are generally based on the SCT (Boyle et. al, 2011). In addition, intervention programs utilizing health educators who may provide a source of social support, has shown to be effective in small groups where the interaction is more evident (Boyle et. al, 2011).

According to Bandura (1998), an individual's beliefs in their ability to regulate their motivation and personal behavior influences plays a critical role in developing and maintaining a

level of personal health. This includes the ability to recognize and execute an action necessary to produce a particular degree of attainment which acts on determinants in regulating personal behavior (Bandura, 1998). According to Bandura (1998), personal efficacy plays a crucial role in determining if a person would even consider changing their health habits, practice motivation, and if they decide to maintain changes that they have achieved. Personal efficacy influences individual's health in two ways, at the most fundamental level is a person's beliefs in their readiness to cope with stressors that regulate health and influence disease; thus, SCT observes stress responses. The second level of self-efficacy is having a feeling of direct control over personal habits related to health and biological aging (Bandura, 1998). Therefore, "the stronger the instilled perceived self-efficacy, the more likely are people to enlist and maintain the effort needed to adopt and sustain health-promoting behavior" (Bandura, 1998, p. 628).

According to Bandura (1998), personal beliefs regarding personal efficacy can be developed by four primary sources of influence: 1) Mastery of the experience by overcoming any obstacles to perform certain action through effort and perseverance; 2) Vicarious experiences produced and shaped by observation of people around us, especially those whom we consider as social and role models; 3) Social persuasion through being influenced by individuals in our lives that can strengthen our beliefs and strengthen the self-capabilities to master certain actions; and 4) Reduction in stress reactions and practicing positive attitudes to strengthen emotions and boost self confidence in any performed skills. While the online education platform could have some relationship or influence with obesity, it could also potentially be used to develop programming to influence personal beliefs about efficacy.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

Obesity is a Global Health Problem

Obesity is a global health problem that threatens the sustainability of healthcare systems worldwide (Ferretti, 2017). The expectations of the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD, 2017) shows a steady increase in the obesity rates, where 47% of the United States population are projected to be obese by 2030. Obesity is a major risk factor for many chronic diseases, such as diabetes, heart disease, stroke and certain cancers. Obesity also has a negative effect on labor market outcomes, in term of both lower wages and difficult employment, particularly for women (Cawley, 2004; Brunello et al., 2006).

Lifestyle including eating habits, frequency of physical exercise, and work style are among the most important causes for the high morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. In the United States (US), approximately two-thirds of the adults over the age of 18 are either categorized as overweight or obese (National Center for Health Statistics, [NCHS], 2013). As Body Mass Index (BMI) increases, the risk of chronic diseases increases (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013; World Health Organization [WHO], 2013), which negatively impacts quality of life, increases the healthcare costs, and generally adds to the complexity seen in the healthcare system today (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2014). BMI is analyzed in several ways such as a categorical, continuous, or dichotomous measure.

Obesity increases the risk of chronic diseases; according to statistics from the US Department of Health and Human Services (2013) and the World Health Organization [WHO] (2013), obesity negatively impacts quality of life, increases the cost of the healthcare, and generally adds to the severity of conditions seen in the United States health care system. According to the World Health Organization, obesity has tripled globally since 1975; as of 2016,

19

there were about 650 million cases of obesity among adults and 41 million cases among children and adolescents aged 5 to 19 years globally (Hales et al., 2017). Unfortunately, this dramatic increase in obesity, caused a profound impairment in the lifestyle of individuals, societies, and negatively impacted the economic productivity.

In high-income developed countries, overweight and obesity rates are more likely to be prevalent among citizens with lower income, low education status, and social class (Conklin, Forouhi, Brunner, & Monsivais, 2014), with minority groups facing different barriers that contribute to their high obesity rates (The State of Obesity, 2014a). Low socioeconomic status is strongly associated with obesity among minority groups, with lower cost foods being less nutritious and have more calories compared to more expensive-healthier foods (The State of Obesity, 2014a). From an income prospective, research has shown that African-American families earn \$1 for every \$2 earned by White families in the past 30 years (The State of Obesity, 2014a).

According to The State of Obesity (2014a), children in unsafe cities and in neighborhood areas without parks and playgrounds had a 20-45% risk of becoming overweight due to lack of physical activities. In addition, language, culture, family size, and immigration status have significantly impacted the obesity rates within the Hispanic population in particular (The State of Obesity, 2014b). Within the minority groups, African Americans with higher incomes were more likely to be obese, and women with higher incomes were less likely to be obese (CDC, 2016). No significant difference was found in regard to obese men and education level; however, studies have shown that women with college degrees are less likely to be obese than those with lower education (CDC, 2016).

College students face weight management obstacles (Das & Evans, 2014) and some of the challenges include difficulty with self-direction, stress, access to healthy food, and regulation of competing demands (Swanson, 2016). Therefore, college students might benefit from receiving intervention programs directed primarily to increase their awareness about the complications of obesity. Health education strategies in the US are directed to promote a philosophical stance regarding the dimensions of health (physical, emotional, social, spiritual, intellectual, occupational, and environmental) (Hoeger & Hoeger, 2015). Therefore, it is clear that the same obesity related factors, including physical activity levels and eating habits are interrelated when it comes to obesity programming among adult students.

Variables affecting Increasing Obesity Rates

The fundamental cause of global obesity and overweight is the energy imbalance between total calories consumed and calories expended (WHO, 2019). Globally, there has been an increased intake of foods that are high in fat and an increase in physical inactivity due to the sedentary nature of many forms of transportation, work, and increasing urbanization (WHO, 2019). According to Pampel, Krueger, & Denney (2014), socioeconomic status, geographic location, age, education level, and ethnicity are core factors that may increase the risk for obesity.

Although obesity is preventable (WHO, 2019), there are more than 1.9 billion adults aged 18 years and older were overweight in 2016, of these 650 million adults were obese. In addition, in 2016 about 13% of the global adult population (11% of men and 15% of women) were obese, and the worldwide prevalence of obesity nearly tripled between 1975 and 2016 (WHO, 2019). Moreover; in future decades, cases of obesity are likely to increase due to urbanization across the world (Hruby & Hu, 2015). As a result, obesity in the developing world is thus likely to emerge

in the future thus further increasing the numbers of obese individuals worldwide. Since Walden University has an international presence with many students from countries outside the U.S., then conducting this study would be beneficial in understanding the variables affecting the weight status for adults in online education.

Obesity and Age. Age presents a more significant disparity in the rates of obesity among adults. According to data from the NCHS of CDC (2018), in 2015–2016, the prevalence of obesity among adults was 39.8% compared to 18.5% in youth, with middle-aged adults have an obesity rates of (42.8%) compared to (35.7%) in younger adults. From 1999–2000 through 2015–2016, a significant increase in obesity rates was observed in both adults and youth (CDC, 2018). In addition, young adults aged 20 to 39 years recorded obesity rate of 35.7% compared to 42.8% among middle-aged adults aged 40 to 59 years, and 41.0% among adults aged 60 and older (CDC, 2018).

Obesity and Gender. According to the CDC (2017), in the U.S. there are more obese women than obese men, with 40.8% of men aged 40 – 59 are obese compared to 44.7% for women aged 40-59; and 34.8% of men aged 20 - 39 are obese compared to 36.7% of women aged 20 - 39. The previous statistics not only noting that women are more likely to be obese compared to men, but also the obesity rates increase with age, with women being more obese compared to men.

A longitudinal dataset of mean BMI that covers 190 countries from 1980 to 2008, found that economic development, including women's empowerment and urbanization, but not globalization, robustly predicts higher BMI in men and women in both high- and low/middle income countries (Fox, 2019). Therefore, global obesity research should pay closer attention to the local factors that contribute to rising obesity rates internationally (Fox, 2019). In addition, obese women face a social bias due to their body weight, which can help explain the significant gap between men and women in market place (Sari & Acan, 2018).

The majority of the obesity research has indicated an inconsistent positive association between women and high obesity rates, especially with minority women, while less research has been conducted on men (Hernandez, Reesor & Murillo, 2017). Between 2005 and 2014, there was an increase in the prevalence of obesity among women, but not among men in the U.S. (Robinson, 2015). In addition, women were found to be less active than men, and women with high BMI were the most functionally impaired, regardless of the weight status (Gretebeck, 2017). Because the prevention and control of obesity are important strategies for reducing the mortality and the morbidity rates caused by the associated chronic diseases, it is essential to search continuously, study, and investigate all the factors associated with high weight status among adults. In the US, women, and men don't have a significant difference in obesity prevalence when compared across all the races. However, for most of the regions across the world, women tend to have a higher obesity prevalence compared to men. The discussed factors above are some of the reasons the trends in the world show that more women are obese compared to men in most countries (Kanter & Caballero, 2012). However, it is also important to consider that the trends worldwide show a narrow gap between men and women (Kengn et al., 2013). Obesity is, therefore, a problem that affects both genders. Healthcare providers and health educators need to look for permanent solutions to manage the global obesity rates and its associated health problems.

Even though obesity prevalence is almost similar among men and women, research from George Washington University shows that men are at a higher risk of getting certain obesity related diseases such as heart attack when compared to women (Li et al., 2017). Economically,
obesity costs women twice more than men. Women tend to undertake surgeries to reduce their obesity explaining some of the increasing the cost whereas, men focus on exercising more to reduce their weight further (Li et al., 2017).

In Africa, South African women have a higher obesity prevalence (70%) compared to 39% for men (Kengn et al., 2013). In Kenya, 38.4% of women are obese compared to 17.5% for men. South Africa as a country thus has the highest obesity prevalence in Africa and thus drawing the question as to the reasons more women are obese compared to men in all age groups. Other races within Africa have similar obesity trends as the US due to their similarities in social and economic backgrounds. Obesity is generally caused by increased fat retention in the body which is not expelled. According to research conducted by Binghamton University, women require more nutrients to support their cognitive health and further promote their positive emotional well-being (Li et al., 2017). As a result, their brains tend to channel their energy towards bad eating habits which affect their overall health. Without physical exercise, such bad eating habits can easily cause obesity. In Africa, women from low-income economic backgrounds tend to consume unhealthy foods since they cannot access healthy foods.

The general predisposing factors affect both men and women equally across the world. Even though in some countries, more women tend to be obese than men, it is relevant to consider that the general factors affecting men and women are similar (Kanter & Caballero, 2012). Some of the general factors that lead to obesity in both men and women include genetics, family lifestyle, unhealthy diet, medical complications, and social and economic issues.

Obesity and Race. Race and ethnicity are risk factors associated with obesity not only in US, but also across the globe. A study conducted in California, a state where a large population is obese and of ethnic and racial diversity, showed that obesity prevalence among African

Americans is at 36.1%, among the Latinos is at 33.6%, among the whites is 22.0% and among the Asians is at 9.8% (Wang et al., 2017). Previous studies provided clear evidence for weight status disparity among races, these differences are as discussed below

African Americans. On average, African American households tend to have a lower income. As a result, these households may be unable to access healthy foods. African Americans are thus more likely to consume unhealthy foods which exposes them directly to the risk of obesity in the long run (Lincoln, Abdou, & Lloyd, 2014). On the other side, high-income household-individuals can access healthy foods and at the same time afford to spend time exercising thus reducing the risk of being obese.

The other factor that accelerates the increasing rates of obesity among the African American population is the level of education. On average, the African American community has less access to quality education and thus have less opportunity to learn the primary and most essential concepts of healthy living (Noonan, Velasco-Mondragon & Wagner, 2016). For sure, healthy lifestyles in any society are accelerated by good education among the people, and indeed higher education can result in a better lifestyle for people. Statistics also show that obese African Americans are less likely to be affected by depression and thus are likely to live a happy life (Li et al., 2017). As such, they remain less stressed but likely to be affected by other conditions such as high blood pressure and diabetes.

Hispanic. After the U.S., Mexico has the 2nd highest obesity rate in the world. Latinos in the U.S. are the fastest growing ethnic group in the country. Consequently, there is a significant increase in the number of Latinos every year (Holub et al., 2013). Additionally, more immigrants from Latin America are streaming to the United States in search of a better life. The people from Latin America are, thus, faced with the challenge of poverty and low education standards which

are an accelerating factor towards obesity in the US. The education levels and level of poverty can complicate access to healthy food and health education (Lincoln, Abdou, & Lloyd, 2014).

In U.S., the ethnic community has less access to medical insurance and thus spend very little time visiting doctors (Holub et al., 2013). The adult individuals from this ethnic group visit hospitals only when they feel it is necessary; as a consequence, some of them are unable to know whether they have an issue affecting their bodies or one that can lead to obesity. African Americans and Mexicans are less stressed about their obese bodies and therefore tend to be concerned about other things in their lives reducing obesity-induced depression (Holub et al., 2013).

White. Unlike the other races that seem to be unbothered about their weight, white people find stigma in overweight, and thus they work on every avenue possible to reduce their weight (Hendley et al., 2011). There are therefore fewer cases of obesity among the white Americans compared to blacks and Latinos due to their mentality towards obesity and also their economic status. The white's attitude towards obesity pushes them to work on avenues to keep an ideal body weight. White Americans also have access to better health care and, generally, have a high level of education due to the opportunities available to them (Hendley et al., 2011). Additionally, their economic status allows for healthy living and further visits to better medical facilities where they can monitor their bodies and conditions. The white population thus has an advantage in comparison to the blacks and Latinos due to their social and economic status.

Asians. Asians are always considered as a healthy population due to their long-life expectancy. In the United States, Asian Americans are generally less obese than any other race due to their lifestyle and also genetics. Asian Americans are usually thinner and thus many people can consider them as not obese (Dahl, 2013). However, statistics show that they suffer

from obese related complications more easily than other races. For the Asian race, body fat is more likely to be packed in between organs that putting individuals are more risk of conditions such as heart disease.

Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey show that the rates of obesity among Asian Americans are continuously increasing thus positing a health risk among the population. Additionally, the population is facing economic challenges and health challenges due to the language barrier and their low accessibility to good healthcare (Dahl, 2013). Therefore, it is important for Asian Americans to continuously check their health status for understanding the effects of obesity in their bodies. The Asian population in the US is growing, and there is a need to stay alert on their health issues and the rising cases of complications that might arise from their bodies due to increased accumulation of fats.

Obesity and Educational Status.

Economists have found evidence on how education impacts economic growth. It has been shown that education has a significant impact and influence on health and wellbeing. There is strong evidence of the relationship between education and obesity. It is believed that those people that spend more time in school are less likely to drink a lot, smoke or to be overweight. They are also less likely to use illegal drugs. Furthermore, those people that are educated are likely to receive preventive care like vaccines, flu shots, colonoscopies, mammograms and pap smears (Cohen, Rehkopf & Abrams, 2013). Those affected most by inequalities in the society are the women and individuals that are poorly educated and disadvantaged to socioeconomic status. Evidence on individual labor market according to research carried out shows how education plays a vital role. Many scholars have found that those that are learned and have more education are less likely to have health-related problems. The reason why educated people are less likely to be affected is that they have enough knowledge on how to handle most things. It is the reason why developing countries are the most affected with the global obesity problem (Brunello, Fabbrim & Fort, 2016). Individuals in developing countries as in Africa do not have comprehensive educational systems. Obesity cases have been reported to be on the rise in these countries. The educational systems help in addressing the obesity issues in developing and developed countries (Sassi, Devaux, Church, Cecchini & Borgonovi, 2009).

Obesity and Employment status. When comparing the obesity prevalence of U.S. adults to other countries, adults in US has the highest obesity rates among the industrialized/developed countries (33.9%), and ranking the ninth among developing countries (Ng et al., 2014). The rise of obesity across the world has affected economic productivity in many different ways. There were statistically significant associations between overweight or obesity and lower job qualities, particularly among women. Additionally, underweight women were 1.57 times more likely to have a stable job compared to normal-weight women (Lee, 2019). Individuals with obesity are seen to be less productive thus affecting their work status; therefore, the health condition has become both an economic and health burden to the country (Hammond & Levine, 2010). Furthermore, obesity in workplaces has increased among the men compared to the number of women (Kivimäki et al., 2015).

Obesity has profoundly affected the productivity of many firms around the globe because it has affected both employees and their employers. Unfortunately, obese workers may have to have longer sick leaves compared to a healthy individual who reduces the maximization of the scarce resources available to the organization. The sick leave at times could be as a result of injuries from their working stations which gives them an employee's compensation (Tse et al., 2018). However, the compensation required for these individuals will be high and comes from the organization. Hence, there will be a delayed return to work because it takes time for this group of people to fully recover from these injuries. The cost burden for the organization is a source for the organization to experience reduced productivity.

Obesity decreases the probability of employment and negatively affect wages for both men and women; while it has a more pronounced impact for women (Sari & Acan, 2018). According to Sari & Acan (2018), A small number of studies focused on the effect of obesity on employment/unemployment. Because very little research has been done on the influence of student employment on health status, this research study may help understand the relationship between the employment status and the quality of life, physical activity, and weight status in the sample of adult online students.

Health of College/University Students

Healthy People 2020 has described higher education as an ideal environment where adults should be targeted for physical activity promotion (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015, Pauline, 2015). However, College students consistently experiencing food insecurity at a higher rate than in the general US population (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017). Risk factors for food insecurity among college students varies. For example, Hispanic and Black adult students are at increased risk of food insecurity compared to White students (Bruening et al., 2016), and Students from low-income backgrounds are at increased risk for food insecurity in college (Martinez et al., 2018). In fact, adult students who experience food insecurity may lack access to the available resources, and have feelings of shame and isolation (Watson et al., 2017). Despite evidence of food insecurity among college students, a few studies have examined the effect of food insecurity on mental health and academic performance of the students (Bruening et al., 2016). In 2015, the National College Health Assessment report sponsored by the American College Health Association reported that 14% of students had been diagnosed or treated or diagnosed with depression in the last 12 months, which impacted their academic performance. Colleges and universities in the United States continuously work to cope with the high levels of psychological distress among students (including financial stress, the increasing technology dependence, lifestyle changes, and independence in decision making); because understanding the nature of these health problems is of great importance to health professionals (Boehm, 2016).

According to Tam (2017), College is an environment where young adults will experience overconsumption of the readily available energy-dense meals. The academic pressures may lead to increases the time of studying and the use of computers which will devalue exercise and sport participation (Strong, Serena, Anderson, Winett & Davy, 2008). In addition, snacks that are available for adult students contain less nutrients and more abundance of refined sugar and fat (Tam, 2017). Therefore, nutrition education is a key factor that should be required for college students in order to guide them towards a high-quality life (Tam, 2017).

According to the U.S. Department of Education's National Center for Education Statistics (2017b), in 2016, 64% of individuals enrolled in higher education programs identified as White, compared to 14% identified as Black, 10% identified as Hispanic, and 8% identified as Asian. According to data from the U.S. Census Bureau (2019), there is a racial gap in higher educational attainments in the U.S, with 66.2% of non-Hispanic White students over the age of 25 have some college experience compared to 55.2% for black. In addition, more than 14.6% of adult non-Hispanic Whites hold an advanced degree compared to 8.9% of adult black, and 2.3% of non-Hispanic Whites adults hold a doctoral degree compare to 1.2% of black holding doctorate degree. Also, literature has shown that obesity varies significantly among different racial and ethnic groups, with the Black non-Hispanic have the highest age-adjusted rates of obesity with 48.1%, followed by the Hispanics with 42.5% (CDC, 2016). In addition, White non-Hispanic have a lower percentage of 34.5%, and Asian non-Hispanic at 11.7% (CDC, 2016). It was proven that these differences depend on genetics, cultural, and lifestyle differences between different race and ethnic groups. This research study may help understand the relationship between race and the quality of life, physical activity, and weight status in the sample of adults in online education.

According to the Education at a glance report of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2019), the percentage of U.S. adults aged 25- to 34-year with an associate's or bachelor's degree increased by 8% between 2008 and 2018, reaching to 49%, compared to the global OECD average of 44%. The report also noted that the percentage of U.S. students completing a bachelor's degree within 4 years was 38% in 2018, which is the same as the average among the OECD countries of 39%. In addition, while a higher percentage of U.S. young adults had completed a bachelor's degree compared with young adults in other OECD countries, a lower percentage had completed a master's or doctoral degree; with 11% of 25- to 34-year-olds in the U.S. had completed a master's or doctoral degree, compared to an average of 15% globally (OCED, 2019). This research study may help understand the relationship between the age and the quality of life, physical activity, and weight status in the sample of adults in online education.

Online Education

The transformations of higher education to e-learning settings is becoming more prevalent at the undergraduate and graduate level (Allen & Seaman, 2016). Data from the Online College Student survey has shown a steady increase in the rates of online enrollment by about 1% yearly since 2012 (Clinefelter & Aslanian, 2016). According to the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center (2015), of the 18.6 million students who were enrolled in higher education courses, 5.5 million chose to take courses that were online. According to Sari & Aydin (2014), the most significant problem for using the internet is the immobility and spending less energy, which puts the internet users in a vicious cycle of weight gain and further lack of mobility. It is impressive how advancement in technology is making it possible to acquire the desired training or education on the time you determine and at your convenience. Online education is gaining popularity in today's world (Kentnor, 2015). It is a flexible form of the education system that incorporates any learning that takes place through the internet. According to Projections of Education in Statistics in 2012, 7.1 million students in higher education institutions were enrolled in at least one online course, which is a 343.75% increase compared to only 1.6 million in 2002 (Allen & Seaman, 2014).

The evolution of online learning has been ongoing over the past two to three decades. It has resulted in a more erudite, readily obtainable and a well-accepted means of providing quality education (Bazylak & Weiss, 2017). The National Technological University launched the first online degree program in 1985. Since then, advancement in online training goes hand in hand with great improvements in technology. According to Kentnor (2015), the global recognition of online education is as a result of the worldwide presence of the internet. Through audio and video-based lectures, students can listen to lecturers, submit assignments and take part in

assessment tests. Despite most schools offering specific programs via the internet, some are operating fully online with no physical location.

According to Reiber (2017), the main reason for this progression in online education or as it is called virtual education or e-learning is the cumulative demand of internet operators for educational amenities. Higher education-institutions are now competing in the online setting to introduce new techniques of providing stress-free access to all forms of education via the internet. In addition, research indicates that over 75% of academic leaders believe online learning is superior to learning in a lecture hall (Kentnor, 2015).

The main benefit of online learning is its affordability (Arkorful & Abaidoo, 2015). The desire to save money has a significant impact on both the young and old in society in terms of choosing the most affordable and available way for education. One of the prime concerns for learners is the cost linked with going to campus and attaining a degree. A lot of money is spent on colleges and universities all in the name of education (Aithal, 2016). Other than tuition fees, students spend large amounts of cash on rents, paying expensive water bills, electricity bills and transport. It does not include the cost of textbooks and other materials related to the course. According to Aithal (2016), online learning has less expenditure to incur and all one needs is a device to connect to the internet. Additionally, students do not have to incur extra costs of living expenses at the college or commuting to campus.

Balancing work and higher education is very possible through online education; in fact, the flexibility of online courses enables full-time personnel to study desired courses to completion (Li & Lee, 2016). Online education system offers the learners sovereignty to move at their pace which illuminates why more people are registering in online courses than ever before. The fact that everything seems to change with technology proves that education is heading on the same route.

Online schooling is the most suitable option for numerous individuals across the globe and for this reason the future of online learning is developing exponentially. Both private and public institutes are keeping up with technology to stay ahead of the curve of online education. Self-discipline is the key to succeeding in online education (Ugnich et al., 2019). Online schools call for an advanced level of individuality compared to traditional institutes. Arkorful & Abaidoo (2015) suggest that self-motivation is critical in online courses; it requires undertaking the requirements without directives from anyone. Regularly checking the class portal, reading course material needed, handling assignments and meeting all deadlines are amongst the key responsibilities.

According to recent research, most of online learners feel optimistic about the courses they pursue with only some scarce limitations (Ugnich et al., 2019), with three-quarters of online campus students' sign up to online courses for career-focused motives. In addition, research shows more students will access affordable, high-quality education from any location globally in the next five years (Kentnor, 2015). Today's domain is fast-paced where people's time is juggling between jobs, families, lifestyles, and education. Therefore, the prospect of online institutes is not only electrifying but essential.

Health Related Quality of Life

Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) is defined as those aspects of overall quality of life that are shown to affect individual's health, including mental and physical health perceptions (CDC, 2016). Therefore, quality of life varies between individuals and depends mostly on personal knowledge, experience, and different situations that this person has been through in life.

34

It is always helpful to measure adults' self-experience with the clinical and objective measures of health (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion [ODPHP], 2017). Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) is a multidimensional concept that stresses the effect of current health status on quality of life. According to Ferrans et al. (2005), HRQOL is used interchangeably with the term quality of life within research. In addition, HRQOL describes the effects of health, disease, and treatment on overall quality of life (Ferrans et al., 2005). However, later research has expanded their view of the concept of HRQOL to include the impact of self-health on the functional level, psychological status, and overall well-being of an individual (Huget, Kaplan, & Feeny, 2008; Jakobsoon & Hallberg, 2006; Kaplan, 2003).

Obesity is a risk factor for diminished HRQOL (Limbers, 2018). Findings from a collegebased study revealed that young adults, aged 18-35, are gaining weight faster than their parents, with an average of 30 lbs of weight gain during this phase of their life (Nanney et al., 2015). Besides, previous research stated that there is increased body mass index (BMI) during college years with average gains of 2.3 kg (5.07 lbs.) in freshman year (Anderson, Shapiro, & Lundgren, 2003). In US overweight/obesity are negatively associated with unhealthy days, and activity limitation days (Huynh, 2018); with two of the four goals for Healthy People 2020 are directly related to quality of life: 1) attain high quality and 2) promote quality of life. Therefore, by continuously tracking population's HRQOL, we can monitor the nation's progress toward meeting these goals (CDC, 2018). According to the American College Health Association [ACHA], 2010), higher education has been identified as a critical stage of establishing healthy behaviors, although declining physical activity. In addition, previous studies have reported an inverse relationship between HRQOL and BMI (Kruger, Bowles, Jones, Ainsworth, & Kohl, 2007), with obesity has consistently been associated with higher body dissatisfaction within HRQOL measures (Breslin, Lalonde, & Bain, 2012).

These constructs of HRQOL enables health organizations to discuss broader areas of public health policy in collaboration with social service institutions, community organizations, and business groups (CDC, 2018). The Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) program is part of the CDC initiatives to promote general population health and to provide support to well-being assessment at both the communities and states levels. The primary responsibility of the HRQOL program is to carry out surveillance and dissemination of HRQOL outcomes in the US using surveys (CDC, 2018). There have been many instruments developed over the years to measure health related quality of life (HRQOL), with the CDC's HRQOL-4 measures have been used the most in literature (Clifford, 2013). The CDC-HRQOL-4 consisted of four measures derived from the original version of the Medical Outcomes Study 36-item short-from survey (SF-36) instrument (CDC, 2018) and have been validated in both healthy and disabled populations with acceptable criterion validity and reliability comparable with SF-36 (Clifford, 2013).

Physical Activity

While physical activity has been shown to reduce health-risks associated with obesity (Dankel, 2016), physical inactivity and obesity are separately associated with adverse HRQOL (Herman, 2012). Research continuously supports the concept that regular physical activity provides an abundance of health benefits and combatting many diseases (Colman & Dave, 2013). Also, physically active individuals report feeling both physically and psychologically better compared to individuals who are not physically active (Colman & Dave, 2013).

A study by Leung, Ransdell, Gao, Shimon, Lucas, and Chung (2016) reported that college students who recorded "good or excellent perception of their health" were 2.19 times

more to meet the moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) recommendations compared to those who reported "poor health." Furthermore, Davilla et al. (2014), confirmed that there is an established connection between obesity among college students and their life satisfaction. Also, it was found that young adults aged 18-24 had less life satisfaction than older adults, with 6% reporting being dissatisfied/very dissatisfied with their lives (Davilla et al., 2014). Reduced physical activity is health risk behaviors that contribute to the prediction of reduced HRQOL (Dey, Gmel, & Mohler-Kuo, 2013).

According to the WHO (2019), physical inactivity is the lack of physical activity which counts as the fourth leading cause for global mortality (6% of deaths globally). In addition, physical inactivity is estimated to be direct cause for about 21–25% of breast and colon cancers, 27% of diabetes and around 30% of ischemic heart diseases (WHO, 2019). On the other side, regular physical activity in adults proofed to reduce the risk of diabetes, breast and colon cancer, hypertension, coronary heart disease, stroke, , and depression and the risk of falls (WHO, 2019). Exercise is the planned, structured, maintained, and purposeful physical fitness, it is a subcategory of physical activity, which involve body movements as part of playing, working, house chores, and other activities (WHO, 2019).

The recommendations for ideal physical activity in adults aged 18–64 is at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or at least 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week (WHO, 2019). However, despite all the benefits of regular physical activity, research shows a significant decline in engagement in physical activity during the college years mainly due to study load, work, and psychological transition to adult life (Calestine, 2017).

Summary and Conclusions

Although much research has been conducted on obesity among adult students in traditional education, a gap exists within the literature to the extent of the problem among adults enrolled in online education. Moreover, few studies have assessed the effect of online education on the quality of life and physical activity levels among adults in online education. These identified gaps in the literature are the aim of what this study attempted to better explore and understand. Chapter 2 presented an overview of the social cognitive theory that provides a behavior model where perceived self-efficacy can influence an individual's ability to adopt and maintain a healthy lifestyle. In addition, previous and current peer-reviewed literature was used to further understand the topic and to identify the gap in the literature. The chapter concludes by looking at the correlations between literature and identifies gaps in the literature and transitions into Chapter 3.

Chapter 3

Introduction

The purpose of this descriptive, exploratory, quantitative study was to examine the relationships between two independent variable domains, quality of life, physical activity, and their effect, if any, on the dependent weight status variables in adult online students. The study aimed to promote awareness of the growing problem of global obesity with the rapid evolution of technology, internet, and online education. The study also aimed to bring positive social change to adults in online education by promoting health education programs that adopt healthy eating habits and physical activities tailored directly to adults choosing online education. The following chapter details the research question that was tested to demonstrate if there is a statistically significant relationship between the variables. This chapter contains discussion regarding the research design, the statistical analysis that was used, and a description of the study participants. The chapter ends with a description for the threats to validity and the ethical procedures related to institutional permissions, participants' recruitments, and protection of data collected.

Research Design and Rationale

A quantitative, exploratory descriptive design was used to examine the relationship between quality of life, physical activity, and weight status among sample of online adult students. Potential cofounding variables were age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study. The independent variables were quality of life and physical activity level. The dependent variable was the weight status of the participants.

A quantitative design was the best choice to answer the research question. Using quantitative design allowed for the collection and analysis of primary data that was relevant to

the dependent and independent variables. According to Creswell (2019), quantitative research designs are used when researchers are interested in testing the relationships among variables. This design allowed for the deductive testing of theories while controlling for alternate explanations, and allowed for the generalization of research findings (Creswell, 2009). While qualitative research design is inductive in nature, quantitative research designs are deductive in nature and involve nonexperimental approaches, such as surveys, to provide a useful numerical data from a subset of study participants (Creswell, 2009). Therefore, quantitative study design was selected for this study because it has the potential to provide information and statistics on the relationship between quality of life, physical activity levels, and weight status among the sample.

In this quantitative research a survey (questionnaire) was used to collect data from a convenience sample of participants who were identified as adult online students registered at three separate Higher Education Institutions coded HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. The study design supported the problem statement and aimed to answer the following research question: RQ: Are Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students?

The dependent variable for this study was weight status, calculated using self-reported height and weight. The independent variables (predictors) were the participants' health-related quality of life and the physical activity levels. The independent covariates were age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study. The survey includes four sets of questions: participants' demographics (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study), participants' height and weights, participants' health-related quality of life, and participants' physical activity levels. The statistical analysis that is most

appropriate to answer the research question was Binary Logistic Regression. Binary Logistic regression is used in research to indicate the significant relationships between dependent variable and independent variable. In this research the dependent variable was weight status and the independent variables (predictors) were quality of life and physical activity levels.

Participants for this study were taking online classes, they were able to use and navigate technology and could complete the survey at any time. Using a survey is a non-invasive method to collect data from target population; in addition, online surveys allow respondents to use the device of their own choosing: laptop, tablet or smartphone (Haan, Lugtig & Toepoel, 2019), which allows for more convenience and a higher possibility for completing the survey.

Methodology

Population

The study is global and nationwide, and consists of adults who are over the age of 18 years and identified as solely online students at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. There are more than 53,000 students, from across the U.S. and more than 145 countries, are pursuing their online education at HEI 1 (Walden, 2019). According to the National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES) (2020), HEI 1 had a total student enrollment of 9332 students, with 8974 undergraduates and 358 graduate students. With 89% of undergraduate students and 29% of graduate students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020), which give a total of 2902 online students (2602 enrolled in undergraduate education and 318 enrolled in graduate programs). According to NCES (2020), HEI 2 had a total student enrollment of 2040 students with total of 1729 students were undergraduates and a total of 311 students were graduate students (NCES, 2020). With 6% of undergraduate students and 94% of graduate students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020), which give a total of 315 students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020). With 6% of undergraduate students and 94% of graduate students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020), which give a total of 315 online students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020). With 6% of undergraduate students and 94% of graduate students enrolled in distance education (NCES, 2020), which give a total of 395 online students (103 enrolled in undergraduate education and

292 enrolled in graduate programs). By adding the student's population of the three educational institutions, the population is a total of 56,297 online students.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sample for this study was selected using convenience sampling. Because this population is easy to identify and contact, convenience sampling was the most practical approach for obtaining basic data (Elfil & Negida, 2017) regarding the study without the disadvantages of using a random sampling. The following were the inclusion criteria:

- 1. Be at least 18 years of age.
- 2. Online student at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3.
- 3. Willing to participate.

The following are criteria that excluded an individual from participating in the study:

- 1. Be under the age of 18.
- 2. Traditional or Hybrid student at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3.

The sample size was determined using the G*Power calculation tool (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). To determine the sample size, a 95% confidence level was used (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2015), which corresponded to a z-value of 2.0006. A 95% confidence interval indicates that the probability that the population mean lies within +/-2.0006 Z score interval with an estimate of 95% confidence (see Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2015). With a total population of 56,297 adult online students will be included in this study, the sample size was determined using the G*Power calculation tool (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). Using an a priori power analysis, sample size calculations were determined as:

effect size $f^2 = 0.15$;

 α = probability of Type I error = 0.05;

 β = probability of Type II error = 0.5;

power = $1 - \beta = 1 - 0.5 = 0.95$.

Therefore, the total sample size for the study group was estimated to be 160. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to indicate that the chance of a significant difference takes place at least 5% of the time, which is not a true difference and occurs because of chance.

A p-value demonstrates the probability of having a Type I error. A type 1 error occurs with the rejection of the null hypothesis when the null should not be rejected (Marshall & Jonker, 2010). Although the Type I error does not provide information over the impact of effect size on the entire population (Marshall & Jonker, 2010), it is crucial to report both values to allow for a better discussion and dissemination the study's results.

The power level of 0.8 was used to increase the chances of a statistically significant difference in the study findings while rejecting the null hypothesis and thereby avoiding Type II errors.



Figure 1 priori power analysis, sample size calculations

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection

The study investigated the relationship between the dependent variable (weight status), the independent variables (health-related quality of life and the physical activity level), and the independent covariates (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study). The convenience sample was recruited from the HEI 1 participant pool and by sending invitation letters using SurveyMonkey (2020) to online students at HEI 2 and HEI 3. Both research offices for HEI 2 and HEI 3 agreed to facilitate survey distribution to their students. The

Participant Pool of HEI 1 is a virtual bulletin where researchers can post their studies on the site to those who are interested in participating in research. SurveyMonkey is a platform that is safe and simple for a survey novice to use for students at HEI 1, HEI 2, and HEI 3. SurveyMonkey uses Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) to transmit private documents over the Internet; the SSL enables a secure connection by encrypting all sensitive information transmitted via the web (SurveyMonkey, 2019). In addition, all data was exported to a Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 25 file.

Each HEI had its own way to distribute surveys through emails. Therefore, all online students at the three higher education institutions who are 18 years of age and older were invited via emails to voluntarily participate in the study. Invitation emails provided a description for the study and contained a link to locate the survey on the HEI 1 participants' pool and SurveyMonkey. Data for the survey was initially planned to be collected over a maximum of 60 days to give the target population enough opportunity to participate at their convenience in an anonymous setting. However, the data collection process was stopped after three weeks when the number of participants reached to 434.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

For the demographic questions, questions from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) (CDC, 2019), were used to collect data related to the covariate variables (age, gender, race, employment status). The BRFSS is the U.S. premier system that collects data about U.S. residents' health-related risk behaviors, chronic health conditions, and use of preventive services (CDC, 2019). The BRFSS was established in 1984 with 15 states and now collects data in all 50 states, in addition to the District of Columbia and the three U.S. territories (CDC, 2019). BRFSS is the largest continuously conducted health survey system in the world and BRFSS has become

a powerful tool for targeting and building health promotion activities in U.S. and worldwide (CDC, 2019).

Two validated measures were used to measure Health Related Quality of Life and Physical Activity. The Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) that assess all aspects of overall quality of life that can affect physical or mental health (CDC, 2016) and the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) to collect data about the physical activity of the participants. The standard 4-item set of Healthy Days questions (CDC HRQOL-4) has been used with the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) since 1993, and with the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) from 2000-2012 (CDC, 2018). It identifies four valid and reliable measures: self-reported health, numbers of recent physically unhealthy (sick) days, mentally unhealthy days, and finally any activity limitation days (CDC, 2018). The HRQOL instrument is available free of charge for researchers to use, and does not require permission for use or licensing fees (CDC, 2018). The development of the IPAQ commenced in Geneva in 1998 and was followed by extensive reliability and validity testing undertaken across 12 countries during 2000 (IPAQ, 2002). The final results of the IPAQ reliability and validity testing suggested that this international tool has acceptable measurement properties for use in many settings and in different languages (IPAQ, 2002). The IPAQ is a tool that captures self-reported physical activity, including walking, bicycling, and moderate to vigorous-intensity physical activity undertaken in the last week (Craig, 2017). The IPAQ has been determined reliable and valid (Craig et al., 2003), to obtain data on health-related physical activity, with repeatable outcomes (the Spearman's correlations clustered around 0.8); the criterion validity had a median of about 0.30, which is closely equivalent to most other selfreport validation studies (Craig, 2003).

A copy of the survey is located in appendix A. There are four sections of the survey, with approximately 1 to 8 questions in each section. The survey questions consisted of short answer, multiple-choice answers or yes/no answers depending on whether the variable is dichotomous or continuous.

Operational Definitions

Demographic Information

The first section of the survey contained mostly questions aimed to collect descriptive data, these data help to ascertain certain inclusion or exclusion criteria based on the participants' answers and provide specific general description about the sample population. The survey starts by asking participants to identify the higher educational institution where they are registered as an online student. The choices were (a) [HEI 1] b) [HEI 2] c) [HEI 3]). Then, participants were asked to identify which area of study from the list is closely related to their program of study? choices included the following categories (a) Business and Management, b) Communication, c) Criminal Justice and Emergency Management, d) Education, e) Health and Health Sciences, f) Information Technology, g) Nursing, h) Psychology and Counseling, i) Public Policy and Administration, j) Social Work and Human Services). The list of the programs is based on the 2019 programs' catalog of HEI 1which is more inclusive, detailed, and offer more online programs compared to HEI 2, and HEI 3.

Dependent Variable (Weight Status)

After completion of the first three questions, participants were asked to report their height and weight. Questions from the BRFSS-CDC (2018) used to ask participants to report how much do they weigh without shoes? weight (pounds/kilograms), and about how tall are they without shoes? Height (ft/inches/meters/centimeters). During analysis BMI of the participants was calculated by dividing the person's weight in kilograms by the square of height in meters. For this study, I used the BMI calculator of the CDC which includes both English and metric options for accurate calculation of the BMI (CDC, 2019). The BMI is used as a screening tool but not as a diagnostic test (CDC, 2016); the participants were divided to categories according to their weight status. The BMI constituted the values for the categorical variable (weight status). Participants' BMI scores categorized into 4 BMI groups: underweight (BMI < 18.5), normal weight (BMI 18.5–24.9), over-weight (BMI 25–29.9), and obese (BMI > 30) (CDC, 2017). For the purpose of using Binary Logistic Regression for analysis, weight status was dichotomized into two categories (BMI 18.5-24.9, and BMI>30).

Covariate Variables

As described earlier in the literature review, the inclusion of age, gender, race, location, employment status, and program of the study were all predicted to have an influential role on weight status, physical activity, and quality of life. Questions from Core Section 8: Demographics of the BRFSS-CDC (2018) were used to collect descriptive data from the participants.

Age. The survey asked participants to respond to the question: How old are you? Participants were classified in the following age groups (18 - 24 years, age 25 - 34, age 35 - 44, age 45 - 54, age 55 - 64, age 65 or older)

Gender. According to Trochim and Donnelly (2007), gender is considered a qualitative variable that not based on quantity consisted of "two text values: male and female" (p.8). For the purpose of data analysis, the two categories were coded as: Male (0), and female (1).

Race/Ethnicity. Two different questions used to specifically identify the race of the participants: 1- Are you Hispanic, Latino/a, or Spanish origin? (Yes, No). If No, 2- Which one of

these groups would you say best represents your race? 1) White, 2) Black or African American,3) American Indian or Alaska Native, 4) Asian, and 5) Pacific Islander.

In this study, race/ethnicity was considered a descriptive variable, in terms of percentages, of participants. The survey question related to race or ethnicity was comprised of six categorical variables that coded as: White is 1 and, Black is 0, Hispanic/Latino is 2 Asian is 3, and American Indian or Alaska Native is 4; this yields five dummy variables for race or ethnicity. The dummy variables used in regression analysis to distinguish weight status among the race/ethnicity categories or groups.

Geographic Location. Two different questions were used to specifically identify the geographic location of the participants: In what county do you currently live? (U.S., Other Countries) 2- If you are not a U.S. resident, name your country of residence? The two categories for data analysis coded 0 for living in U.S. and 1 for not living in U.S.

Employment Status. The employment question was coded to two main categories 0 employed, and 1 student only (not employed).

Program of Study. As previously mentioned the list of programs adapted from the HEI 1 catalog and coded as: 0 health and health sciences, 1 psychology, 2 nursing, 3 counseling, 4 business, 5 communication, 6 criminal Justice, 7 education, 8 information technology, 9 public policy and administration, and 10 for social work and human services.

Independent Variables

Health Related Quality of Life (HRQOL). According to the CDC (2016), HRQOL assesses all aspects of overall quality of life that can alter/affect physical or mental health. Questions on HRQOL are pulled from the Health-Related Quality of Life Questionnaire of the CDC (2018). The HRQOL instrument measures five basic domains: physical, social, environmental, mental, and general health perceptions (Balduyck et al, 2007).

HRQOL-4 is a specific measurement scale that evaluates the individuals' perceived health, physical and mental health, and recent limitation in usual activities. HRQOL is a commonly used, validated measure in the literature (CDC, 2016). The standard 4-item set of Healthy Days questions (CDC HRQOL-4) has been used with the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) since 1993, and with the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) from 2000-2012 (CDC, 2018). It identifies four valid and reliable measures: self-related health, numbers of recent Physically unhealthy (sick) days, mentally unhealthy days, and finally any activity limitation days (CDC, 2018). The HRQOL instrument is available free of charge for researchers to use, and does not require permission for use or licensing fees (CDC, 2018). A subset of the CDC-Health Related Quality of Life measures [HRQOL-4] used to collect data related to the participants' perception of their health status. These four questions, have demonstrated good retest reliability, validity, and responsiveness; also, have been included in the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) in all 50 states since 1993 with an acceptable exploratory factor analysis of .76 and goodness of fit (RMSEA = 0.039, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.94, SRMR = 0.01, CD = 0.89) (Yin, 2016).

The HRQOL survey included the following questions: 1) "Would you say that in general your health is excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor?" (2) "Now thinking about your physical health, which includes physical illness and injury, for how many days during the past 30 days was your physical health not good?" (3) "Now thinking about your mental health, which includes stress, depression, and problems with emotions, for how many days during the past 30 days was your mental health not good?" (4) "During the past 30 days, for about how many days did poor

physical or mental health keep you from doing your usual activities, such as self-care, work, or recreation?".

For scoring the HRQOL of the participants, unhealthy days are an estimate of the overall number of days during the previous 30 days when the participants' felt that their physical or mental health not good. According to (CDC, 2018), responses to questions 2 and 3 combined to calculate a summary index of overall unhealthy days, with a logical maximum of 30 unhealthy days per participants. For example, a participant who reports 4 physically unhealthy days and 2 mentally unhealthy days is assigned a value of 6 unhealthy days, and someone who reports 30 physically unhealthy days and 30 mentally unhealthy days is assigned the maximum of 30 unhealthy days (CDC, 2018). In addition, healthy days estimates the number of recent days when a participant's physical and mental health was good (or better) and is calculated by subtracting the number of unhealthy days from 30 days (CDC, 2018). For analysis of the HRQOL data, the self-reported overall health recoded into 2 categories: (1) excellent, very good, good; (2) fair, poor. Physically and mentally unhealthy days, and recent activity limitation days recoded in numbers from 0-30 and recoded to numbers. If either value of physically unhealthy days or mentally unhealthy days are missing this will result into missing value (CDC, 2018). For the purpose of this research, I focused on total unhealthy days, which is the sum of the number of days of recorded poor physical health (question 2) and recorded poor mental health (question 3), with a logical maximum of 30 unhealthy days per month. The unhealthy day's measure provides an assessment for the perceived physical and mental health over time, with good concurrent and acceptable criterion validity (CDC, 2016). According to prior research, the more unhealthy days reported per month, the poorer the HRQOL. If any participant reported (0) physically unhealthy days and (0) mentally unhealthy days, the question on activity limitation days (due to poor

physical or mental health) is skipped, imputing zero days is only valid when mentally unhealthy days and physically unhealthy days were both zero (CDC, 2018). The unhealthy days dichotomized to (0) no unhealthy days per month vs. reporting of one or more unhealthy days (1–30) per month.

The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ). IPAQ was used to collect data about the physical activity of the participants. The development of the IPAQ commenced in Geneva in 1998 and was followed by extensive reliability and validity testing undertaken across 12 countries during 2000 (IPAQ, 2002). The final results of the IPAQ reliability and validity testing suggested that this international tool has acceptable measurement properties for use in many settings and in different languages (IPAQ, 2002). The IPAQ is a tool that captures self-reported physical activity, including walking, bicycling, and moderate to vigorous-intensity physical activity undertaken in the last week (Craig, 2017). The IPAQ has been determined reliable and valid (Craig et al., 2003), to obtain data on health–related physical activity, with repeatable outcomes (the Spearman's correlations clustered around 0.8); the criterion validity had a median of about 0.30, which is closely equivalent to most other self-report validation studies (Craig, 2003).

Questions from the IPAQ are: 1) "On how many days during the last 7 days did you do strenuous physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, heavy construction, or climbing upstairs as part of your work?" 2) "During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time as part of your work? Please do not count any walking you did to travel to or from work?" 3) "During the last 7 days, on how many days did you bicycle for at least 10 minutes at a time to go from place to place?"

For scoring, the scoring guideline protocol available at the IPAQ (2016), IPAQ scoring protocol was used. Retrieved from https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/scoring-protocol.

A combined total physical activity MET-min/week is the sum of Walking + Moderate + Vigorous MET-min/week (IPAQ, 2002); with MET defined as the metabolic equivalents which is the energy that the body uses when resting or sitting still (IPAQ, 2002). According to the scoring protocol participants assigned to three different categorical scores (levels) of physical activity:

Category 1: low level of physical activity. This is the lowest level of physical activity. Those individuals who are not meeting criteria for categories 2 or 3 are considered low/inactive.

Category 2: moderate level of physical activity. Which includes any participant who met one of the following 3 criteria:

• 3 or more days of vigorous activity of at least 20 minutes per day OR

• 5 or more days of moderate-intensity activity or walking of at least 30 minutes per day OR

• 5 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 600 MET-min/week.

Category 3: high level of physical activity. Which included any participant who met any one of the following 2 criteria:

• Vigorous-intensity activity on at least 3 days and accumulating at least 1500 METminutes/ week OR

• 7 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 3000 MET-minutes/week

As stated earlier, the scoring guideline protocol available at the IPAQ official website used for scoring and results scaled into 3 categories (low level, moderate level, high level) physical activity.

Data Analysis Plan

IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 was used for data analysis of this study. Data for the survey was collected over three weeks from 5-18-2020 until 6-7-2020. All data were exported to SPSS once the data collection process stopped.

RQ: Are Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students?

H01: Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity are not significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Ha1: Health-Related quality of life (HRQOL) and physical activity are significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

The results of this study were presented using both descriptive and inferential analysis. Using descriptive statistics presented and summarized data in an effective and meaningful way (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Descriptive statistics included : 1) calculate mean and standard deviation for all numerical variables (age, BMI) and frequencies for categorical variables (weight status, race, gender, employment status, geographic location, and program of study). 2) calculate the mean of the physically unhealthy days, mentally unhealthy days, and unhealthy days for both of the categorical group within the HRQOL scale. For the IPAQ, results from scoring reported in categories (low activity levels, moderate activity levels or high activity levels). For the HRQOL, results from scoring reported into 2 data sets [categories: (1) excellent, very good, good; (2) fair, poor; numerical: number of unhealthy days]. For the analysis, I used the categorical description for assessing the relationship between the variables.

Inferential statistics allowed inferences to be made by interpreting the pattern of the results among participants (Frankfort- Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The inferential statistic that was selected for this study was binary logistic regression, the binary logistic regression was used to answer the research question, if there was an association between the dependent variable, weight status, and independent variable (HRQOL and Physical activity level). As discussed in chapter two, the covariates (age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study are contributing factors to the obesity pandemic nationally and globally). It was essential for this study to understand the potential effect of the covariates on weight status of adults-online students. These variables added to the statistical analysis during the binary logistic regression analysis, to support the accuracy of the results.

Statistical Tests

Binary logistic regression analysis was the statistical test appropriate for the research question. Binary logistic regression is used to predict a nominal (categorical) dependent variable from two predictor variables, while controlling for covariates (age, gender, race, locations, employment status, and program of study). Binary Logistic Regression was the most appropriate analysis for this study because there was one binary dependent variable (Warner, 2013), weight status; with two categories [underweight (BMI < 18.5), normal weight (BMI 18.5–24.9); and over-weight (BMI 25–29.9), obese (BMI > 30)].

The independent variables were:

- HRQOL, dichotomized into 2 data sets [categories: (1) excellent, very good, good; (2) fair, poor; numerical: number of unhealthy days, (0) 0 unhealthy days and (1) 1 or more unhealthy days]. For the analysis, I have used the categorical dichotomized description for assessing the relationship between the variables.
- Physical Activity, measured and scaled into 3 categories (low level, moderate level, high level). After collection of data the IPAQ was dichotomized to only two categories low level (0) and moderate level (1); as none of the participants reported high physical activity levels.

The Covariates were:

- age: 18 24 years (0), age 25 34 (1), age 35 44 (2), age 45 54 (3), age 55 64 (4), age 65 or older (5).
- gender: male (0), and female (1)
- race/Ethnicity: White (0), African American (1), Hispanic/Mexican (2), Another Hispanic/Latino (3), Asian (4), Chicano (5), American Indian or Alaska Native (6), and Pacific Islander (7).
- geographic location: U.S. location (0), non-U.S. location (1)
- employment status: employed (0), student only (1)
- program of study: Psychology (0), Business (1), nursing (2), Social Work(3), Health Science (4), Education (5), Information Technology (6), Criminal Justice (7), public policy (8), and Communication (9).

Threats to Validity

Understanding threats to validity is crucial in conducting a research study. Discussing the different situations that could introduce threats the study is essential for conducting the analysis and writing the results of the research.

Threats to Internal validity

Threats to internal validity refer to factors that may threaten the study process, including history and selection of subjects (Hagstromer, Oja & Sjostrom, 2005). Threats to internal validity involve the factors that compromise the researcher's confidence in stating the relationship exists between the study variables (Michael, n.d.). Since this study is descriptive-exploratory and non-experimental, then there are few threats to internal validity. A convenience sampling technique was used to recruit participants and there were no interventions of any kind. Using BMI as a standard to determine obesity has limitations; in fact, self-reported height and weight may cause systemic bias; while some participants may not know their exact height and weight, others may intentionally misreport to fit the social norms (Ghosh-Dastidar, 2016). For this study, although the selection of study participants and survey design is highly controlled by certain participation criteria, participants may answer the survey questions incorrectly to indicate better weight status or improved levels of physical activity which may in turn influence the data they provided on the survey. My assumption was that the participants were honest in filling out the survey questions

Threats to External Validity

By selecting the research participants, treatments, experimental situations, and any tests the external validity will be insured, and the results may be applied to larger population (Thomas, Nelson, & Silverman, 2015). Threats to external validity are the factors that negatively affect the researcher's confidence in stating whether the study's findings are applicable to other populations (Michael, n.d.). Therefore, understanding all the threats to external validity helped in assuring that the results of the study might be applicable to other individuals, at different settings and times. The study participants are adults who were online students, I expected that they were able to manage technology and fulfill online surveys. There is a probability that participants may get frustrated with answering questions related to their body weight and lifestyle. To address these concerns, the consent form stated clearly that students should answer each question honestly and respond to every question in the survey. The IRB process of the three educational institutions participating in the study ensured authenticity of the study. Finally, it was determined that there was no need for any pilot studies due to the fact that there is no intervention and no new measures were developed specifically for this study.

Ethical Procedures

This study is official research for completion of doctoral study that required approval. Approval for the study granted through the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Walden University, the dissertation committee, and the Walden University Research Reviewer (URR) before data collection started. Upon completion of the online surveys, collected data was stored in electronic format and will not be made available to others. The Walden University Internal Review Board (IRB) granted approval (IRB# 05-06-20-0548617) to conduct the study. The researcher stored the data on a password protected laptop and will keep the data encrypted for 5 years at which time it would be destroyed, and the researcher was the only person who have access to the data.

Dissemination of Findings

Study findings will be disseminated by completing a dissertation manuscript, and through health publications dealing with health education and promotion, physical activity, quality of life, obesity, and BMI issues associated with college health. Any other possible dissemination channels will be considered an option upon completion of the study.

Summary and Transition

Chapter three described the research methodology including the use of a self- administered questionnaire, data collection, study approach, study population, sample size, and the instrumentation. Chapter 4 describes the data collection and data analysis conducted to address the study's research questions.
Chapter 4

Introduction

The purpose of this descriptive, exploratory, quantitative study was to explore whether Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity level were significant predictors of weight status, holding age, gender, race, location, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

The following research question and hypotheses were the guide for this research study:

RQ: Are Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students?

H01: Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity are not significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Ha1: Health-Related quality of life (HRQOL) and physical activity are significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, location, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

This chapter provides a description of the data collection process including the recruitment of participants and response rate. The chapter also reports the results of the study to include descriptive and inferential statistics; and answers the research question based on analysis. Finally, a summary for the chapter provided an answer to the research question and provided a transitional material to chapter five.

Data Collection

The study survey was posted on SurveyMonkey and the HEI 1 participants' pool from May 18th, 2020 until June 6th, 2020. An invitation email was sent to HEI 2 students with an active link for quick access to the study survey posted on SurveyMonkey https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/PW733HN. The same invitation email format was posted as an announcement to the Canvas portal of HEI 3, as an invitation to for online students to participate in the study. As described in chapter 3, the necessary sample size for the study was calculated to be 160; however, within less than three weeks of posting the survey, the total participants number from the three higher institution reached 434 participants, 429 students who participated through the SurveyMonkey and 5 students who participated through the HEI 1 participants' pool. Of the 434 adult online students who participated in the study, 405 completed the entire survey.

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 25 was used to analyze all data collected from participants. Data was transferred from SurveyMonkey and the participants' pool for 434 participants to the SPSS 25. Upon completion of entering all the data and before starting the analysis process, 29 participants' responses were not used due to not completing the HRQOL and IPAQ questions; 2 participants were also excluded from the analysis due to their age being less than 18 years old; 5 participants were excluded for not reporting their age, and finally 1 participant was excluded for not reporting their race. After cleaning the SPSS file from these incomplete responses and participants who did not meet the inclusion criteria, the total number of participants was 397. Data were entered to SPSS using the U.S. metrics (feet, inch, and pounds lbs.). The BMI calculator of the CDC which includes both English and metric options

was used for accurate calculation of BMI (CDC, 2019). Seven categorical variables were calculated from the available 21 variables to have a total of 28 variables listed in the SPSS file.

As described earlier, age, gender, race, location, employment status, and program of the study were all hypothesized to have an influential role on weight status, physical activity, and quality of life for adults. Weight status was the dependent variable with two categories [underweight (BMI < 18.5), normal weight (BMI 18.5–24.9); and over-weight (BMI 25–29.9), obese (BMI > 30)].

The independent variables were:

- HRQOL, dichotomized into 2 groups [categories: (1) excellent, very good, good; (2) fair, poor; numerical: number of unhealthy days, (0) 0 unhealthy days and (1) 1 or more unhealthy days]. For the analysis, I have used the categorical dichotomized description for assessing the relationship between the variables.
- IPAQ, dichotomized into 2 categories: low level (0) and moderate level (1). With low activity level represented any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities of less than 600 MET-min/week; and moderate activity represented any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities of 600-3000 MET-min/week. MET defined as the metabolic equivalents which is the energy that the body uses when resting or sitting still (IPAQ, 2002).

The Covariates with their coding were:

- age: 18 24 years (0), age 25 34 (1), age 35 44 (2), age 45 54 (3), age 55 64 (4), age 65 or older (5).
- gender: male (0), and female (1)

- race/Ethnicity: White (0), African American (1), Hispanic/Mexican (2), Another Hispanic/Latino (3), Asian (4), Chicano (5), American Indian or Alaska Native (6), and Pacific Islander (7).
- geographic location: U.S. location (0), non-U.S. location (1)
- employment status: employed (0), student only (1)

program of study: Psychology (0), Business (1), nursing (2), Social Work(3), Health Science (4), Education (5), Information Technology (6), Criminal Justice (7), public policy (8), and Communication (9).

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the demographics and the general characteristics of the participants, the analysis included the percentage distribution and frequency distribution (Gerstman, 2008). SPSS 25 was used to analyze all data collected from participants.

Descriptive statistics are presented in Table 1.

| Variable | Category | Ν | % |
|------------------------------|-------------------------|----------|------|
| Higher Education Institution | HEI 1 | 210 | 52.9 |
| (HEI) | HEI 2 | 33 | 8.2 |
| (n = 397) | HEI 3 | 154 | 38.2 |
| | 10.04 | 70 | 17.6 |
| Age | 18-24 | /0 | 17.6 |
| (n = 397) | 25-34 | 149 | 37.5 |
| | 35-44 | 97 | 24.4 |
| | 45-54 | 62 | 15.6 |
| | 55-64 | 15 | 3.8 |
| | 65 and older | 4 | 1.0 |
| Gender | Male | 355 | 10.6 |
| (n = 397) | Female | 42 | 89.4 |
| Race | White | 266 | 67.0 |
| (n - 307) | A fricon A moricon | 200 | 21.7 |
| (11 - 397) | Affical Affectical | 80 12 | 21.7 |
| | A noth on Uismonia | 12 | 5.0 |
| | Another Hispanic | 10 | 2.5 |
| | Asian | 8 | 2 |
| | Chicano/Puerto Rican | 6 | 1.5 |
| | American Indian/Alaskan | 6 | 1.5 |
| | Pacific Islander | 3 | 0.8 |
| Geographic Location | USA | 382 | 96.2 |
| (n = 397) | Outside USA | 15 | 3.8 |
| | | | |
| Employment Status | Employed | 322 | 81.1 |
| (n = 397) | Students only | 75 | 18.9 |
| | | | |
| Program of Study | Psychology | 87 | 21.9 |
| (n = 397) | Business | 78 | 19.6 |
| | Nursing | 63 | 15.9 |
| | Social work | 57 | 14.4 |
| | Health Science | 32 | 8.1 |
| | Education | 34 | 8.6 |
| | Information technology | 17 | 4.3 |
| | Criminal Justice | 18 | 4.5 |
| | Public Policy | 10 | 2.5 |
| | Communication | 1 | 0.3 |
| | | | |

 Table 1
 Descriptive Analysis

| Variable | Category | N | % | |
|-------------------------|-----------------------------|-----|------|--|
| BMI/Weight Status | Underweight | 7 | 1.8 | |
| (n = 397) | Normal weight | 114 | 28.7 | |
| | Over weight | 100 | 25.2 | |
| | Obese | 176 | 44.3 | |
| HRQOL | Excellent | 39 | 9.8 | |
| (n = 397) | Very good | 138 | 34.8 | |
| | Good | 166 | 41.8 | |
| | Fair | 43 | 10.8 | |
| | Poor | 11 | 2.8 | |
| Unhealthy Days | 0 Unhealthy days | 49 | 12.3 | |
| (n = 397) | 1 or more unhealthy days | 348 | 87.7 | |
| Physical Activity level | Low | 358 | 90.2 | |
| (n = 397) | Moderate | 39 | 9.8 | |

As shown in Table 1, the majority of the 397 participants were female (89.4%). Two hundred and ten participants were students at HEI 1, 33 participants were students at HEI 2, and 154 participants were students at HEI 3. The majority of the participants were white (66.5%) followed by black or African American (21.6%). Eighty-seven participants (21.9%) were studying psychology and 78 (19.6%) were studying business. From the three higher education institutions, the majority of participants (81.1%) were employed. Also, the majority of participants (96.2%) were U.S. residents, while 15 (3.8%) were living outside the U.S. A total of 397 students reported their age with a mean age of 34.7, with the majority of participants (37.5%) were between the age of 25-34. In addition, 86.4% of the participants reported excellent, very good, or good quality of life compared to 13.4% who reported fair or poor quality of life. Also, 87.7% of the participants reported 1 or more unhealthy day compared to 12.3% that reported 0 unhealthy days. Finally, 90.2% of the sample reported low physical activity level (less than 600 MET-min/week) compared to only 9.8% that reported moderate physical activity (600-3000 MET-min/week), and no participants reported high physical activity.

The statistics of the study sample were similar to the statistics of the college students and adults in general. The study population represented a reflection to the general population; 44.35% of participants were obese and 25.2% were overweight which are close to the data of the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD, 2017) that reported a steady increase in the obesity rates among US adults, where 47% of the United States population are projected to be obese by 2030. Also, In the United States (US), approximately two-thirds of the adults over the age of 18 are either categorized as overweight or obese (NCHS, 2013), which is similar to the results of this study that concluded a total of 69.55% of the participants as overweight or obese. According to the WHO (2016), obesity has tripled globally since 1975; with around about 650 million cases of obesity among adults in 2016 (Hales et al., 2017), this is also consistent with the results of the study.

A series of Chi Square tests were applied to determine the relationship between weight status and age group, gender, race, geographic location, employment status, and program of study. The results of this descriptive analyses confirmed that there was a statistically significant association between weight status of the participants and their age groups (X2(.183) = , p < .001). with those who age 25-34 reporting the highest rates of obesity and overweight among the participants. Based on the Chi Square analysis there was no statistically significant association between weight status and gender (X2(1) = .001, p=.989 > .001), weight status and race (X2(1) = .104, p=.039 > .001), weight status and location (X2(1) = .092, p=.067 > .001), and weight status and employment (X2(1) = -.030, p=.558 > .001). While not all the covariates were statistically significant, the findings were consistent with the data described in literature review.

As the study showed that 23.3% of females are overweight and 45.3% are obese, compared to 40.4% of males are overweight and 35.7% are obese; the results were higher than the average global rates, and consistent with the literature statistics that show adult females in general have higher BMI compared to adult males. The results of this study identified 29 % of African American as overweight, and 53.5% as obese compared to 23.7% of white participants were overweight and 43.2% were obese. This was in conformity with the report of Gillespie and Christian (2016) that the prevalence of obesity in U.S. is higher among African Americans.

The external validity of the study was controlled with the selection criteria; however, participants might have answered the survey questions incorrectly to indicate optimal weight status or improved levels of physical activity which could of have affected the study results. According to Ghosh-Dastidar (2016), using BMI as a standard to determine obesity has limitations; in fact, self-reported height and weight may have caused systemic bias; while some participants might not know their exact height and weight, others might intentionally misreport to fit the social norms. My assumption was that the participants were honest in filling out the survey questions. Finally, speaking more than one language could have served as an emotional buffer that might made bilinguals feel uncomfortable when dealing with sensitive and emotional topics (Ivaz, Griffin, & Duñabeitia, 2019). However, this issue wasn't a threat to the study as all of the participants were able to complete the survey in English Language-format.

Inferential Statistics

This study was guided by the following research question and hypothesis. RQ: Are Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, location, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students?

67

H01: Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) and physical activity are not significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Ha1: Health-Related quality of life (HRQOL) and physical activity are significant predictors for weight status, holding age, gender, race, employment status, and program of study constant in this sample of adult online students.

Binary logistic regression was conducted to examine the predictor effect of HRQOL and physical activity level on the weight status, holding age, gender, race, location, employment status, and program of study constant. There are several assumptions implied in binary logistic regression (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007. pge 444). The first is that the outcome variable must be binary. This was accomplished by combining underweight with normal weight and overweight with obese to achieve a binary outcome variable for this study. The second is that observations have to be independent of each other, which was achieved by the cross-sectional nature of the study. Additionally it is assumed that there are no extreme outliers and that independent variables are not highly correlated. For this study, the data was examined for outliers and the independent variables were free of multicolinarity.

Holding the covariates constant/controlled in the analysis added to the value of the covariate's effects on the weight status, and reliably improves the predictor effect of HRQOL and physical activity levels on weight status (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007. pge 440). Findings from this study are consistent with the finding of previous college-based study that described young adults, aged 18-35, as gaining weight faster than their parents, with an average of 30 lbs of weight gain during this phase of their life (Nanney et al., 2015). With adults who are educated are likely to receive preventive care compared to those who are not educated (Cohen, Rehkopf &

Abrams, 2013), in the presence of inconsistent positive association between women and high obesity rates, especially with minority women (Hernandez, Reesor & Murillo, 2017). In addition, Zhang (2019), reported that overweight and obesity were negatively associated with HRQOL, and that there is a need for targeted interventions conducted mainly for women, to reduce the obesity effects associated with poor HRQOL. According to Sells (2016), despite the evidence that regular physical activity may reduce obesity and its complications, many Americans do not participate in regular physical activity, with an estimated 21%, only, of U.S. adults achieve the recommended physical activity level. For the above reasons there was a need to control the covariates in the study for a better understanding of the predictor effect of HRQOL and physical activity on weight status.

According to Stevens (2016), binary logistic regression is calculated using Chi Square statistics, which trend toward significance as the sample size increases, so it was also important to explore the effect sizes of the variables within the regressions. The odds ratio was used to determine predictors' effect on weight status. when the covariates were entered in step 1, the model wasn't statistically significant, $X^2(20, N = 397) = 45.163, p = .001$, with age group was statistically significant at values of p = .001. After entering the predictors in the second step, the chi square value for model became statistically significant [$X^2(22, N = 397) = 50.833, p = .000$], indicating that the model was able to distinguish between respondents who reported being obese/overweight and those who were normal weight/underweight. Based on the results, HRQOL was a statistically significant predictor for weight status in the model, HRQOL (OR = .429, 95% CI = .200 - .921, p = .030), while physical activity level (OR = .807, 95% CI = .354 – 1.843, p = .612) wasn't a statistically significant predictor of overweight status in this model.

Table 2 presents the binary logistic regression summary.

| | В | S.E | Wald | df | р | Odds Ratio | 95% CI for Odds Ratio | |
|----------------------------|--------|-------|------------|----|------|---------------|--------------------------|--------|
| | | | | | | Кино | Lower | Upper |
| HRQOL | 846 | .390 | 4.710 | 1 | .030 | .429 | .200 | .921 |
| Physical Activity level | 214 | .421 | .258 | 1 | .612 | .807 | .354 | 1.843 |
| Age groups | .043 | .013 | 11.66 3 | 1 | .001 | 1.044 | 1.018 | 1.070 |
| Gender | .460 | .450 | 1.047 | 1 | .306 | 1.584 | .656 | 3.824 |
| Race | | | 11.06 4 | 7 | .136 | | | |
| White | .916 | .786 | 1.356 | 1 | .244 | 2.499 | .535 | 11.667 |
| Hispanic | .160 | .736 | .047 | 1 | .828 | 1.173 | .277 | 4.965 |
| American Indian/Alaskan | 418 | .944 | .196 | 1 | .658 | .658 | .103 | 4.188 |
| Asian | 666 | 1.161 | .329 | 1 | .566 | .514 | .053 | 5.003 |
| Pacific Island | 143 | 1.081 | .017 | 1 | .895 | .867 | .104 | 7.212 |
| Chicano/PR | 20.19 | 2136 | .000 | 1 | 99 | 5.87E+8 | .000 | |
| Another Hispanic | -1.525 | 1.198 | 1.621 | 1 | .203 | .218 | .021 | 2.276 |
| Location | -1.041 | .861 | 1.461 | 1 | .227 | .353 | .065 | 1.910 |
| Employment | .338 | .297 | 1.297 | 1 | .255 | 1.403 | .783 | 2.512 |
| Program | | | 6.026 | 9 | .737 | | | |
| Psychology | .213 | .534 | .159 | 1 | .690 | 1.237 | .435 | 3.522 |
| Nursing | .169 | .406 | .174 | 1 | .677 | 1.185 | .534 | 2.626 |
| Business | 503 | .24 | 1.404 | 1 | .236 | .605 | .263 | 1.390 |
| Communication | 214 | .404 | .281 | 1 | .596 | .807 | .366 | 1.781 |

Table 2 Binary Logistic Regression

| | В | S.E | Wald | df | р | Odds Ratio | 95% CI for Odds Ratio | |
|---------------------------|------------|-------------|-------|----|-------|---------------|--------------------------|-------|
| | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| Criminal Justice | 20.68 4 | 4019 3.0 | .000 | 1 | 1.000 | 9.61E+8 | .000 | |
| Education | 733 | .629 | 1.359 | 1 | .244 | .480 | .140 | 1.648 |
| Information Technology | 362 | .509 | .507 | 1 | .477 | .696 | .257 | 1.887 |
| Public policy | .326 | .698 | .018 | 1 | .641 | 1.385 | .353 | 5.443 |
| Social work | 19.33 5 | 1183 5.1 | .000 | 1 | .999 | 2.50E+8 | .000 | 0 |
| Constant | .878 | 1.408 | .389 | 1 | .533 | 2.406 | | |

Summary

This research study used survey data to quantitatively examine the predictor effect of health-related quality of life and physical activity level among a convenience sample of adult online students. This study focused on investigating the weight status of online students in a sample of 397 online students from three different higher institutions. The BMI of the participants was calculated from the height and weight variables provided on the survey. Two predictor variables, quality of life and physical activity; and seven covariates (age, gender, race, location, employment status, program of study), were evaluated against weight status with a binary logistic regression model. The results partially supported the hypothesis; HRQOL (OR = .429, 95% CI = .200 - .921, p = .030) was a statistically significant predictor to weight status in the model, while physical activity level (OR = .807, 95% CI = .354 – 1.843, p = .612) was not a

statistically significant predictor for weight status. Also, age group was statistically significant covariate and a predictor for weight status at values of p = .001.

Chapter Four presented the descriptive statistics for the study variables and results of the statistical analyses to answer the research question. This brings chapter four to conclusion with a transition into chapter five for interpretations of results, draw conclusions based on the findings, discuss implications for social change, and suggest a series of recommendations.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this descriptive, exploratory, quantitative study was to explore the predictor effects of quality of life and physical activity on weight status among a group of adult online college students. The key findings of the statistical analysis reported HRQOL (OR = .429, 95% CI = .200 - .921, p = .030) as a statistically significant predictor to weight status in the model, while physical activity level (OR = .807, 95% CI = .354 – 1.843, p = .612) was not a statistically significant predictor for weight status. In addition, 69.5% of the participants were either overweight or obese (25.2% were overweight and 44.3% were obese). The results are consistent with the assumptions of the study and reflected a definite need for health education programs targeting the obesity problem among adults in online education.

Interpretation of Findings

The weight status, quality of life, and physical activity level statistics of the study sample were similar to the statistics previously reported on college students and adults in general. The weight status of the study participants represented a reflection of the general population, with 44.35% of participants being obese and 25.2% overweight, which was close to the data reported from OECD (2017) that there is a steady increase in the obesity rates among US adults, with 47% of the US population are projected to be obese by 2030. In addition, the results of the study were consistent with the NCHS (2013) data that two-thirds of the US adults over the age of 18 are either categorized as overweight or obese. Indeed, studying the prevalence of obesity among adults plays an important role in informing public health workers with the recent data and relevant factors to decrease the prevalence of this condition. The weight status of the participants in this study was even higher than the average global rates, and consistent with the literature

statistics that show adult females have higher BMI compared to adult males. This is consistent with the findings of Kivimäki et al (2015), who reported that obesity in workplaces has increased among the men compared to the number of women.

Previous studies have reported factors associated with high BMI among college students, but most of these factors were implemented at the individual level (Odlaug et al., 2015), Researchers have also studied how individual psychosocial stressors are positively associated with overweight and obesity among college students (Odlaug et al., 2015). The present study explored more demographic and lifestyle factors associated with overweight and obesity among adult online students. Although, the majority of participants (44.3%) were obese and (25.2%) were overweight, 86.4% of the participants reported excellent, very good, good quality of life compared to only13.6% reporting fair or poor quality of life. HRQOL was found to be a negative predictor of weight status, which is is consistent with Zhang (2019), that reported that overweight and obesity were negatively associated with HRQOL. Findings from Zhange (2019) went on to report that there is a need for targeted interventions conducted mainly for women, to reduce the obesity effects associated with poor HRQOL. This study also supports these findings as the vast majority of the sample was female. The results are also consistent with the findings of Truthmann (2017), who reported that obesity was significantly related to lower physical HRQOL, independent of metabolic health status; this inverse relationship can be partly explained by age, educational status, and health- related behaviors.

Results from the study supported the data and findings introduced in literature review, obesity is a common problem among adults in US. The study reported that 69.5% of adultonline students were either overweight or obese (25.2% were overweight and 44.3% were obese); with 33.9% of females were overweight and 45% were obese, compared to males in the study where 40% were overweight and 36% were obese. It is important to note that findings from this study may be more indicative of females than males. Thus findings may be more informative for practictioners and researchers targeting that specific population. The results concluded that HRQOL was a significant predictor for weight status, which confirmed what Breslin, Lalonde, & Bain (2012), reported about obesity being consistently associated with higher body dissatisfaction and low HRQOL measures and also consistent with the findings of Davilla et al. (2014), who confirmed that there is an established connection between obesity among college students and their life satisfaction with young adults aged 18-24 had less life satisfaction than older adults.

In the US overweight and obesity are negatively associated with unhealthy days, and activity limitation days (Huynh, 2018). Two of the four goals for Healthy People 2020 are directly related to quality of life: 1) attain high quality and 2) promote quality of life. Therefore, by continuously tracking population's HRQOL, we can monitor the nation's progress toward meeting these goals (CDC, 2018). The present study reported that the majority (87.7%) of the participants reported 1 or more unhealthy day compared to 12.3% reported 0 unhealthy days. This was consistent with the results of Huynh (2018), who reported that overweight/obesity are negatively associated with unhealthy days, and activity limitation days; with two of the four goals for Healthy People 2020 are directly related to quality of life: 1) attain high quality and 2) promote quality of life. The findings of the study supporting the conclusions of Rozjabek (2020), who reported that increasing levels of obesity tended to have a greater negative impact on HRQOL, work productivity, and weight loss behaviors, with some differences in effects by age, gender, were observed. Therefore, by continuously tracking population's HRQOL, we can monitor the nation's progress toward meeting these goals (CDC, 2018). Previous research found

that there is increased body mass index (BMI) during college years with average gains of 2.3 kg (5.07 lbs.) in freshman year (Anderson, Shapiro, & Lundgren, 2003).

Although, low physical activity and obesity are separately associated with adverse HRQOL (Herman, 2012), the results from the study showed that physical activity level (METmin/week) was not a significant predictor for weight status among participants. A combined total physical activity MET-min/week is the sum of Walking + Moderate + Vigorous MET-min/week (IPAQ, 2002); with MET defined as the metabolic equivalents which is the energy that the body uses when resting or sitting still (IPAQ, 2002). The present study reported that the majority (90.2%) of the participants recorded low physical activity level (less than 600 MET-min/week) compared to only 9.8% reported moderate physical activity (600-3000 MET-min/week), with no participants reported high physical activity; which was consistent with the findings from a college-based study revealed that young adults, aged 18-35, are gaining weight faster than their parents, with an average of 30 lbs of weight gain during this phase of their life (Nanney et al., 2015) and also consistent with the findings of Calestine (2017) who reported that despite all the benefits of regular physical activity, research shows a significant decline in engagement in physical activity during the college years (Calestine, 2017). In addition, the global problem of the COVID-19 pandemic, the social distancing, and the stay at home-orders; all may have had a negative impact on the physical activity of the participants.

The current novel coronavirus, COVID-19 invaded the world by the end of 2019 and was announced by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a global pandemic on 11 March 2020 (Hâncu, A., & Mihălțan, F., 2020). With about 34% of the Americans obese and yearly between 160 to 210 million Americans becoming obese, a healthy lifestyle including a healthy nutrition model, daily physical activity and optimal sleep, will remain the key principle for a healthy future for patients both during and after COVID-19 (Hâncu, A., & Mihălțan, F., 2020). In addition, the current novel coronavirus, COVID-19 pandemic, has reduced the face-to-face contact, and this has challenged how health professionals and students can access classes, and accreditation; and increased the availability and use of online and virtual mechanisms study (Seymour-Walsh, 2020. Globally, online channels have been used to promote social learning in regional and remote communities, with strategies for learning and tutor training proposed to support health professions education remotely (Seymour-Walsh, 2020)

The SCT was chosen as the framework for this study because it provides links and answers to individual behaviors. Discussing the findings of the study and interpreting them within the context of Bandura's social cognitive theory (1977) provided insight into the perspectives of participants, and allowed me as a researcher to understand how weight status of the participants might be a reflection for their health-related quality of life and physical activity levels. According to Bandura (1986), SCT is a learning theory that addresses the reciprocal relationship and interaction among individual's characteristics, behaviors, and environment. while emphasizing on the active role of each individual (Bandura, 2001. PP1-26). This concept of reciprocal determinism was helpful in predicting the social origin of the obesity problem among adults who choose online education and could also be used as a framework for planning health education programs targeting obesity among adults in online education; considering the person's experiences (online education) and any associated behaviors (quality of life and exercise habits) that may contribute to obesity.

According to Reisi et al. (2016), individuals are more motivated to engage in positive behaviors if they believe they would benefit from those behaviors. Which is similar to the findings of McAlister et al. (2008), who advocated that adapting new behavior is compatible with the everyday routines and the sociocultural values of individuals. Although physically active individuals report feeling both physically and psychologically better compared to individuals who are not physically active (Colman & Dave, 2013), many studies reported a significant decline in engagement in physical activity during the college years mainly due to study load, work, and psychological transition to adult life (Calestine, 2017); which is consistent with the findings of this study with the majority of participants reported low physical activities.

Limitations of the Study

In this research study, recall bias, information bias, and other unknown confounders were identified as potential limitations. The first limitation of this research study was information bias. The survey was open to all online students in three U.S. higher education institutions via the SurveyMonkey and responses were anonymous. Participants in the study were not required to provide any personal information. Therefore, information bias could result from a general tendency of respondents to complete the survey even if they are not fully-online students; which could lead to misclassification, also known as recall bias (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Recall bias could affected respondents' ability to recall past experiences related to quality of life and physical activity. Also, recall bias could have had an impact on those surveyed remembering or reporting information such as height, weight, days not feeling well, and weekly exercise. Generally, recall biases could pose limitations on the accuracy and interpretation of the descriptive statistics, and may limit the generalizability of the findings.

The results of this research study were applicable to the study population only and not a reference for the weight status of the general population of adult online students. Using a convenience sample posed a significant limitation to this study, as it is not a representation of the entire population of adult online students. The target population included adult online students

over the age of 18 years old. Therefore, the lack of including the general population of adult online students, limited the ability to infer conclusions about the weight status of adult online students nationally and globally.

Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study and what was shared from existing literature on predictors of obesity, there is a strong need for health education programs that target the obesity problem among adult online students. Allen & Seaman (2017), stated that registration for online courses in United States significantly increased in 2015, with 29.7% of all students in higher education were taking at least one online education course, representing a 3.9% increase from 2014. With the current COVID-19 pandemic, necessitating many university classes to be switched and adapted to online formats, there is an even greater need to address the predictors and risk factors of obesity among online students. In addition, exploring the demographic factors of adult online students may determine specific characteristics factors predicting obesity among different compuses nationally and globally.

Although many studies have reported an association between obesity and HRQOL, most have focused on the inverse association between these two variables only (Park, 2017). More studies are needed to examine the relationship between obesity and HRQOL and determine the mediating effects of pathologic conditions, including Diabetes Mellitus, hypertension, and dyslipidemia on the relationship between obesity and HRQOL, especially since obesity and obesity-related diseases should be treated and prevented with an understanding of the role of gender (Park, 2017). Because obesity is related to the development of comorbidities and many chronic health conditions that impair not only the person's health status but also their selfperceived health; decision makers should have access to factors associated with obesity, such as lower health-related quality of life, in order to build policies focused on reducing the negative effects of obesity on today's society (Busutil, 2017). Both private and public institutes are keeping up with technology to stay ahead of the curve of online education. According to the American College Health Association [ACHA], 2010), higher education has been identified as a critical stage of establishing healthy behaviors, although declining physical activity. In addition, previous studies have reported an inverse relationship between HRQOL and BMI (Kruger, Bowles, Jones, Ainsworth, & Kohl, 2007).

Obesity has consistently been associated with higher body dissatisfaction within HRQOL measures (Breslin, Lalonde, & Bain, 2012), and obesity is a risk factor for diminished HRQOL (Limbers, 2018). Therefore, planning and implementing interventions to promote overall wellness for online students should focus on promoting regular physical activity, improving eating habits, and empowering self-efficacy of those adults who suffers from mental and physical health problems. Arkorful & Abaidoo (2015) suggested that self-motivation is critical in online courses; In addition, Kentnor, (2015), stated that students will access affordable, high-quality education from any location globally in the next five years. Therefore, the prospect of online institutes is not only an option but essential to deliver health education messages targeting those who are at high risk of chronic diseases due to overweight and obesity.

The sample in this study was largely female and also included a high percentage of African Americans. Thus, findings from this study could be used to devlelop research and programming specific to female populations and African American females. Tailored online health messages with different formats: videos, pamphlets, group activities, and short scenarios may target the online students based on their demographics and preferences. Finally, there is a need to understand the effect of total screen time and work type on the weight status of adults in online education. With great advancements in technology, many adults work while being students online, which could further impact their ability to be active and thus their weight status

Although, the number of programs promoting physical activities in higher education has decreased over the last few decades, several college/university-based interventions that do exist are generally based on the SCT (Boyle et. al, 2011). Therefore, SCT is a good framework that could be used as a guideline to help health educators design and implement obesity intervention programs especially with having defined predictors (Nerud & Samra, 2017). Because, SCT proposes that individual's behaviors, personal and environmental factors work to impact the behavior outcomes (Boyle et al., 2011), any intervention programs utilizing a source of social support, has shown to be effective in small groups where the interaction is more evident (Boyle et. al, 2011).

According to Bandura (1998), an individual's beliefs in their ability to regulate their motivation and personal behavior influences-plays a critical role in developing and maintaining a level of personal health. This includes the ability to recognize and execute an action necessary to produce a particular degree of attainment which acts on determinants in controlling personal behavior (Bandura, 1998). Therefore, while the online education platform could have some relationship or influence on obesity/weight status statistics among adults, it could also potentially be used to develop programming to influence personal beliefs and reciprocal determinism.

Bandura (1997) suggested that the individual's knowledge, and ability to acquire new knowledge, could be directly related to his or her observations of others through social interaction and experience. In addition, according to Sells (2016), despite the evidence that regular physical activity may reduce obesity and its complications, many Americans do not participate in regular physical activity, with only an estimated 21% of U.S. adults achieve the

recommended physical activity level. Therefore, there might be a need for more research study, mainly qualitative that would explore and address more variables that would affect the weight status of adults taking in consideration the effect of online education, screen time, the COVID-19 pandemic, the advancement in technology, and social networking on the eating habits, physical activities, and weight status of adults.

Many health assumptions are made about the online learning environment, including students' being at higher risk of sedentary lifestyles, smoking, and mental issues as depression (Rohrer, Cole, & Schulze, 2012). Results of this study suggested that quality of life and age were significant predictor for weight status, while physical activity wasn't a significant predictor for weight status. While previous studies have discussed the role of physical activity and quality of life on weight status of college students, there is a need to understand the role of technology and online education in controlling the physical activity levels and quality of life of online college students of all ages. The results also suggested that there is an opportunity for using the online education as a channel to increase the number of health education programs and physical activity messages offered mainly to online students. Planning for such programs should take in consideration the specific demographics of the target population in order to effectively implement interventions programs that uses technology to engage online students in making positive health decisions. Therefore, universities should leverage digital media to deliver health education messages for online college students (Armstrong, 2016).

According to the WHO (2019), positive changes in dietary and physical activity patterns are often results in individual and environmental changes to manage obesity. Therefore, it is recommended that quantitative and qualitative research be carried out on similar adult populations to allow better understanding to the predictors of obesity among different populations. In addition, further understanding of the individuals' perceptions and beliefs may help researchers to design health education program targeting individual knowledge of obesity.

Implications for Social Change

This descriptive, exploratory, quantitative study examined the association between weight status, quality of life, and physical activity among a convenience sample of adult online students The findings of this study were significant and the results may contribute to positive social change as means of managing the obesity pandemic through studying the contributing factors to obesity/overweight rates among online students. Adult online students who participated in the study provided information that could lead to Positive Social Change using the online education as a channel to implement and deliver health education programs.

Positive Social Change is the process of positively transforming the populations' thoughts, behaviors, institutions, and social structure to create more beneficial outcomes for individuals, communities, societies, and the environment (Stephan & Patterson, 2016). According to Aithal (2016), online learning has less expenditure to incur and all one needs is a device to connect to the internet. Additionally, the main benefit of online learning is its affordability (Arkorful & Abaidoo, 2015). Because the prevalence of obesity presents an enormous medical burden; innovative treatment strategies are needed, whose success will depend on considering all the personal, cultural, economic and social aspects of adults with high BMI (Busutil, 2017). Therefore, this study aimed to bring positive social change to adults in online education by providing information that could be used in designing and implementing health education programs that promote the adoption of positive quality of life and promoting physical activities tailored directly to adults in online education. At a systems level, higher education institutions should develop protocols to identify and assist students who are at risk for food

insecurity, in collaboration with health educators, local food-bank, and university administrators (Knol, L. L., 2017), which may improve the students' overall health and well-being.

Obesity is identified as the fourth risk factor for global mortality rates (Arbel et al., 2019). The findings from this study could inform positive social change by promoting obesity intervention programs targeting adults in online education, taking in consideration the effect of COVID-19 pandemic on the availability of exercising facilities and social distancing. Findings of this research also suggest further research to develop applications and online health classes aligned with social cognitive theory that links individuals' confidence in adapting new behavior over unhealthy behaviors. Finally, results from this study could help policymakers and higher educational institutions to develop obesity prevention programs to empower adult online students to practice healthy lifestyles based on their age, race, gender, geographic location, employment status, and program of study; such programs could contribute to the reduction of obesity rates.

Conclusion

This study added a significant value to the body of research available on obesity and to the relationship between weight status, quality of life, and physical activity level. The study addressed the predictors of weight status among adult online students, which wasn't addressed before in research and happened to be conducted during the peak time of the COVID-19 pandemic, where most of the classes were switched to online formats and there was a limited physical activity due to "stay at home-orders". The research studied the weight status of the participants and the predictors of obesity, the findings revealed that the model was significant, with HRQOL making a unique statistically significant contribution to the model, HRQOL (OR = .429, 95% CI = .200 - .921, p = .030), while physical activity level (OR = .807, 95% CI = .354 – 1.843, p = .612) wasn't statistically significant. The results suggested that there might be a need

for more research studies that would predict the weight status of adults taking in consideration the effect of online education, screen time, the COVID-19 pandemic, the advancement in technology, and social networking; on the eating behaviors and physical activities.

The results of the study confirmed a definite need for health education programs targeting obesity among adults in online education. This implies that improvement of quality of life and increasing physical activity could help reduce obesity in adult online students in higher education. The results of this research study have significant public health implications for the education of online students to modify their lifestyle, and increase physical activity level to control obesity. Public health professionals and other healthcare professional need to take immediate actions to educate online students about how to prevent obesity, and consequently, prevent many chronic diseases caused by obesity.

References

Adams, T., & Brynteson, P. (1993). The effects of conceptually based physical education programs on attitudes and exercise habits of college alumni after 2 to 11 years of follow-up. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 64*(2), 208-212.

Adult obesity facts. (2014). http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/ adult.html.

Aithal, P. S., & Aithal, S. (2016). Impact of online education on the higher education system.

- Akushevich, I., Yashkin, A. P., Kravchenko, J., Fang, F., Arbeev, K., Sloan, F., & Yashin, A. I. (2018). *Identifying the causes of the changes in the prevalence patterns of diabetes in older US adults: A new trend partitioning approach. Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications, 32*(2018), 362-367. doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.12.014
- Allen, I., & Seaman, J. (2014). Grade change: Tracking online education in the United States, 2013. *Babson Survey Research Group and Quahog Research Group*, LLC. Oakland, CA
- Allen, I. E., Seaman, J., Babson Survey Research Group, & Quahog Research Group, L. (2016).
 Online Report Card: *Tracking Online Education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group.* Babson Survey Research Group. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED572777&site=eds-live&scope=site

- American College Health Association. (2010). *National College Health Assessment*. Retrieved from www.acha-ncha.org
- Amiri, P., Jalali-Farahani, S., Rezaei, M., Cheraghi, L., Hosseinpanah, F., & Azizi, F. (n.d.).Which obesity phenotypes predict poor health-related quality of life in adult men and

women? Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(9). https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203028

- Anderson, P. J. J., Blatt, R., Christianson, M. K., Grant, A. M., Marquis, C., Neuman, E. J. Sonenshein, S., & Sutcliffe, K. M. 2006. Understanding mechanisms in organizational research reflections from a collective journey. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 15:102-113.
- Anderson, D. A., Shapiro, J. R., & Lundgren, J. D. (2003). *The freshman year of college as a critical period for weight gain. Eating Behaviors, 4*(4), 363-367.
- Arbel, Y., Fialkoff, C., & Kerner, A. (2019). The association of pension income with the incidence of type I obesity among retired Israelis. *Hindawi Journal of Obesity, 1- 19*. Doi: 10.1155/2019/5101867.
- Arkorful, V., & Abaidoo, N. (2015). The role of e-learning, advantages, and disadvantages of its adoption in higher education. *International Journal of Instructional Technology and Distance Learning*, 12(1), 29-42.
- Armstrong, S. N., Dr., & Burcin, M. M. (2016). Digital Health Education for the Fully Online College Student: An Exploratory Study. ScholarWorks.
- Balduyck, B., Hendriks, J., Lauwers, P., & Van Schill, P. (2007). Quality of life evolution after lung cancer surgery: a prospective study in 100 patients. *Lung Cancer*, 56(3), 423-431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2007.01.013

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Bandura, A. (1998). Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. *Psychology and Health*, 13, 623-649. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08870449808407422

- Bazylak, J., & Weiss, P. E. (2017). Online Evolution: Advantages and Challenges of Online Course Components. *Proceedings of the Canadian Engineering Education Association* (CEEA).
- Boehm, M. A., Lei, Q. M., Lloyd, R. M., & Prichard, J. R. (2016). Depression, anxiety, and tobacco use: Overlapping impediments to sleep in a national sample of college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 64(7), 565–574. Retrieved from https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/07448481.2016.1205073
- Boyle, J., Mattern, C.O., Lassiter, J.W., & Ritzler, J.A. (2011). Peer 2 Peer: Efficacy of a coursebased peer education intervention to increase physical activity among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(6), 519-529. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ928036
- Breslin, G., Gossrau-Breen, G., McCay, N., & Gilmore, G. (2012). Physical activity, gender, weight status, and well-being in 9-11-year-old children: A cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 9, 394-401.
- Bruening, M., Brennhofer, S., van Woerden, I., Todd, M., & Laska, M. (2016). Factors Related to the High Rates of Food Insecurity among Diverse, Urban College Freshmen. *Journal* of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 116(9), 1450–1457. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.04.004
- Brunello, G. and B. d'Hombres (2006), "Does Body Weight affect Wages? Evidence from Europe", "Marco Fanno" Working Papers 0027, *Dipartimento di Scienze Economiche Marco Fanno*".
- Busutil, R., Espallardo, O., Torres, A., Martínez-Galdeano, L., Zozaya, N., & Hidalgo-Vega, Á.

(2017). The impact of obesity on health-related quality of life in Spain. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes, 15*, 1–11. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12955-017 0773-y

- Calestine, J., Bopp, M., Bopp, C. M., & Papalia, Z. (2017). College Student Work
 Habits are Related to Physical Activity and Fitness. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 10(7), 1009.
- Caliendo, M., & Gehrsitz, M. (2016). Obesity and the labor market: a fresh look at the weight penalty. *Economics & Human Biology, 23*, 209-225.
- Carr, S. (2000). As distance education comes of age, the challenge is keeping the students. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, *46*(23), 39–41
- Cawley, J. (2004). The Impact of Obesity on Wages. *Journal of Human Resources, 39*(2), 451–474.
- CDC. (2015). *Body Mass Index (BMI)*. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/index.html
- CDC. (2016). Adult obesity causes & consequences.

http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html

CDC. (2016). *Obesity and overweight*. National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/obesity-overweight.htm

CDC. (2016). Adult Obesity Prevalence Map. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/prevalence-maps.html

CDC. (2017). Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015–2016.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db288.htm

CDC. (2017). BRFSS Data Quality, Validity, and Reliability.

https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/publications/data_qvr.htm

CDC. (2017). National Health Interview Survey.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/physical_activity/pa_glossary.htm

CDC. (2018). 2018 BRFSS Questionnaire.

https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/questionnaires/pdf-

ques/2018_BRFSS_English_Questionnaire.pdf

CDC. (2018). Health-related quality of life. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion

https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/index.htm

CDC. (2018). Health-related quality of life. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion

https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/syntax.htm#2

CDC. (2019). BMI Calculator.

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/english_bmi_calculator/bmi_calculator.html.

- Chen, P., Lambert, A., & Guidry, K. (2010). Engaging online learners: The impact of web-based learning technology on college student engagement. *Computers & Education*, 54, 1222–1232. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2009.11.008
- Clifford, E. L., Collins, M. M., Buckley, C. M., Fitzgerald, A. P., & Perry, I. J. (2013).
 Unhealthy days and quality of life in Irish patients with diabetes. *PloS one*, 8(12), e81102. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0081102

- Clinefelter, D. L., & Aslanian, C. B. (2016). Online college students. 2016: A comprehensive data on demands and preferences. Louisville: The Learning House, Inc..
- Cohen, A. K., Rai, M., Rehkopf, D. H., & Abrams, B. (2013). Educational attainment and obesity: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, *14*(12), 989-1005.
- College (2015). In Merriam-Webster's online dictionary (11th ed.). https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/college
- Collins, S. Y. (2014). Racial identity theory and its perceived impact for AfricanAmerican students in an online distance learning program (Doctoral dissertation).Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3682202).
- Colman, G. J., & Dave, D. M. (2013). *Physical Activity and Health* (No. w18858). National Bureau of Economic Research. doi:10.3386/w18858
- Conklin, A. I., Forouhi, N. G., Brunner, E. J., & Monsivais, P. (2014). Persistent financial hardship, 11 year weight gain, and health behaviors in the Whitehall II Study. *Obesity*, 22(12), 2606-2612. doi: 10.1002/oby.20875
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjo, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E.,
 ...Oja, P. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country
 reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 35*, 1381-1388.
 doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjostrom, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B.
 E., ... Smith, C. S. (2017). International Physical Activity Questionnaire—Short
 Format. *Journal of American College Health*, 65(7), 492–501. Retrieved from
 https://searchebscohost.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN
 =HaPI-419917&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Creswell, J.W. (2009). Research design: *Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.)*. Sage Publications Inc. Thousand Oaks, California 91320
- Dahl, M. (2013). What's actually behind the low Asian-American obesity rate? Retrieved from https://www.nbcnews.com/healthmain/whats-actually-behind-low-asianamerican-obesity-rate-8C11323110
- Dankel, S. J., Loenneke, J. P., & Loprinzi, P. D. (2016). The WATCH (Weight Activity and Time Contributes to Health) paradigm and quality of life: the impact of overweight/obesity duration on the association between physical activity and healthrelated quality of life. *International Journal Of Clinical Practice*, *70*(5), 409–415. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/ijcp.12797
- Das, B., & Evans, E. (2014). Understanding weight management perceptions in first year college students using the health belief model. *Journal of American College Health*, 62(7), 488–497. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2014.923429
- Davila, E. P., Kolodziejczyk, J. K., Norman, G. J., Calfas, K., Huang, J. S., & Rock, C. L., et al. (2014). Relationships between depression, gender, and unhealthy weight loss practices among overweight or obese college students. *Eating Behaviors*, 15(2), 271-274.
- Devaux, M., Sassi, F., Church, J., Cecchini, M., & Borgonovi, F. (2011). Exploring the relationship between education and obesity. OECD Journal: Economic Studies, 2011(1), 1-40.
- Dey, M., Gmel, G., & Mohler-Kuo, M. (2013). Body mass index and health-related quality of life among young Swiss men. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 1028-1041.
- Elfil, M., & Negida, A. (2017). Sampling methods in Clinical Research; an Educational Review. *Emergency (Tehran, Iran), 5*(1), e52.

- Fahey, T.D., Insel, P.M., & Roth, W.T. (2015). Fit & Well: Core concepts and labs in physical fitness and wellness. McGraw-Hill Education, New York, NY
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Ferrans, C., Zerwic, J., Wilbur, J., & Larson, J. (2005). Conceptual model of health- related quality of life. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *37*(4), 336-342.
- Ferretti, F., & Mariani, M. (2017). Simple vs. Complex Carbohydrate Dietary Patterns and the Global Overweight and Obesity Pandemic. *International Journal Of Environmental Research And Public Health*, 14(10).
- Fox, A., Feng, W., & Asal, V. (2019). What is driving global obesity trends? Globalization or "modernization"? *Globalization & Health*, 15(1), N.PAG.

Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=136128459&site=eds-live&scope=site

Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008).

Research methods in the social sciences (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth.

Gerstman, B. (2008). Basic biostatistics: Statistics for public health practice. Sudbury

- Gillespie, S. L., & Christian, L. M. (2016). Body mass index as a measure of obesity: Racial differences in predictive value for health parameters during pregnancy. *Journal of Women's Health*, 25(12), 1210-1218. Doi: 10.1089/jwh.2016.5761.
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Richardson, J., Hernandez, A. (2017). Hungry and homeless in college: Results from a national study of basic needs insecurity in higher education.

Retrieved from https://www.higheredtoday.org/2017/03/17/hungry-homeless-collegeresults-national-study-basic-needs-insecurity-higher-education/

- Gretebeck, K. A., Sabatini, L. M., Black, D. R., & Gretebeck, R. J. (2017). Physical Activity, Functional Ability, and Obesity in Older Adults: A Gender Difference. *Journal Of Gerontological Nursing*, 43(9), 38–46. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3928/00989134-20170406-03
- Haan, M., Lugtig, P., & Toepoel, V. (2019). Can we predict device use? An investigation into mobile device use in surveys. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice, 22*(5), 517–531. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1593340
- Hagstromer, M., Oja, P., & Sjostrom, M. (2005). The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ): A study of concurrent and construct validity. Public Health Nutrition, 9(6), 755-762. doi:10.1079/PHN2005898
- Hales, C. M., Carroll, M. D., Fryar, C. D., & Ogden, C. L. (2017). Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: the United States, 2015–2016. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db288.pdf
- Hammond, R. A., & Levine, R. (2010). The economic impact of obesity in the United States.
 Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity : *Targets and therapy*, *3*, 285–295.
 doi:10.2147/DMSOTT.S7384
- Hâncu, A., & Mihălţan, F. (2020). Two Pandemics Coalition: Covid-19 and Obesity. Internal Medicine / Medicina Interna, 17(2), 37–45. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2478/inmed-2020-0109

- Hendley, Y., Zhao, L., Coverson, D. L., Din-Dzietham, R., Morris, A., Quyyumi, A. A., ... & Vaccarino, V. (2011). Differences in weight perception among blacks and whites. *Journal of Women's Health, 20*(12), 1805-1811.
- Herman, K. M., Hopman, W. M., Vandenkerkhof, E. G., & Rosenberg, M. W. (2012). Physical Activity, Body Mass Index, and Health-Related Quality of Life in Canadian Adults. *Medicine and Since sports and Exercise*, 44(4), 625–636. Retrieved from https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31823a90ae
- Hernandez, D. C., Reesor, L. M., & Murillo, R. (2017). Food insecurity and adult overweight/obesity: *Gender and race/ethnic disparities*. *Appetite*, *117*, 373–378. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.07.010
- Hoeger, W. W., & Hoeger, S. A. (2015). *Fitness & wellness (11th ed.)*. Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.
- Holub, C. K., Elder, J. P., Arredondo, E. M., Barquera, S., Eisenberg, C. M., Romero, L. M. S.,
 ... & Simoes, E. J. (2013). Obesity control in Latin American and US Latinos: a systematic review. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 44(5), 529-537.
- Hruby, A., & Hu, F. B. (2015). The epidemiology of obesity: a big picture. *PharmacoEconomics, (7)*, 673. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgea&AN=edsgcl.426033101 &site=eds-live&scope=site
- Huang, J., Horng-Yih Ou, Lin, J., Karnchanasorn, R., Feng, W., Samoa, R., . . . Chiu, K. C.
 (2015). The impact of hepatitis B vaccination status on the risk of diabetes, implicating diabetes risk reduction by successful vaccination. *PLoS One, 10*(10).
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0139730.
- Hu, L., Huang, X., You, C., Li, J., Hong, K., Li, P., ... Gao, R. (2017). Prevalence of overweight, obesity, abdominal obesity and obesity-related risk factors in 141southern China. *Plos One, 12*(9), e0183934. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183934
- Huget, N., Kaplan, M. S., & Feeny, D. (2008). Socioeconomic status and health-related quality of life among elderly people: Results from the Joint/Canada/United States survey of health. *Social Science and Medicine*, 66, 803-810.
- Huynh, S., Jaffe, D., Doane, M. J., Lee, L. K., & Haskell, T. (2018.). The Relationship between Health-Related Quality of Life and Clinical Versus Self-Reported Body Mass Index. *Value in Health, 21*, S473. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=00045998560500 3&site=eds-live&scope=site
- International Physical Activity Questioonaire (IPAQ). (2002).

http://www.sdp.univ.fvg.it/sites/default/files/IPAQ_English_self-admin_long.pdf

- Janghorbani, M., Amini, M., Rezvanian, H., Gouya, M. M., Delavari, A. R., Alikhani, S., & Mahdavi, A. (2008). Association of body mass index and abdominal obesity with marital status in adults.
- Kahn, E. B., Ramsey, L.T., Brownson, R. C., Health, G. W., Howze, E. H., Powell, K. E., ...
 Corso, P.C. (2002). The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, *22*(4S), 73-107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(02)00434-8
- Kanter, R., & Caballero, B. (2012). Global gender disparities in obesity: a review. Advances in nutrition, 3(4), 491-498.

- Kengne, A. P., Echouffo-Tcheugui, J. B., Sobngwi, E., & Mbanya, J. C. (2013). New insights on diabetes mellitus and obesity in Africa–Part 1: prevalence, pathogenesis, and comorbidities. *Heart*, 99(14), 979-983.
- Kentnor, H. E. (2015). Distance education and the evolution of online learning in the United States. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *17*(1), 21-34.
- Kim, Y. J. (2016). The long-run effect of education on obesity in the US. *Economics & Human Biology, 21*, 100-109.
- Kivimäki, M., Singh-Manoux, A., Nyberg, S., Jokela, M., & Virtanen, M. (2015). Job strain and risk of obesity: systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *International journal of obesity*, 39(11), 1597.
- Knol, L. L., Robb, C. A., McKinley, E. M., & Wood, M. (2017). Food Insecurity, Self-Rated Health, and Obesity among College Students. *American Journal of Health Education*, 48(4), 248–255.
- Kruger, J., Bowles, H. R., Jones, D. A, Ainsworth, B. E., & Kohl, H. W. (2007). Health-related quality of life, BMI and physical activity among US adults (>/=18 years): National Physical Activity and Weight Loss Survey, *International Journal of Obesity*, 31(2), 321-327.
- Lakerveld, J., Rebah, M. B., Mackenbach, J. D., Charreire, H., Compernolle, S., Glonti, K., ... & Oppert, J. M. (2015). Obesity-related behaviors and BMI in five urban regions across
 Europe: sampling design and results from the SPOTLIGHT cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open*, 5(10), e008505.
- Lee, H., Ahn, R., Kim, T. H., & Han, E. (2019). Impact of Obesity on Employment and Wages among Young Adults: Observational Study with Panel Data. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(1), 139. doi:10.3390/ijerph16010139

- Leung, K. M., Ransdell, L. B., Gao, Y., Shimon, J., Lucas, S., & Chung, P. K (2016). Predictors of physical activity on a college campus with a high proportion of non-traditional students. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 14(1), 44-56.
- Li, L., Gower, B. A., Shelton, R. C., & Wu, X. (2017). Gender-Specific Relationship between Obesity and Major Depression. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *8*, 292. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00292.
- Li, L. Y., & Lee, L. Y. (2016). Computer Literacy and Online Learning Attitude toward GSOE Students in Distance Education Programs. *Higher Education Studies*, *6*(3), 147-156.
- Limbers, C. A., Teasdale, A., & Beaujean, A. A. (2018). Relations between Religiosity, BMI, and Health-Related Quality of Life in Young Adults: A Model Comparison Study. *Journal of Psychology and Christianity, (2),* 125. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgea&AN=edsgcl.553279837 &site=eds-live&scope=site

- Lincoln, K. D., Abdou, C. M., & Lloyd, D. (2014). Race and socioeconomic differences in obesity and depression among Black and non-Hispanic White Americans. *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved*, 25(1), 257.
- Marshall, G., & Jonker, L. (2010). *A concise guide to inferential statistics*. Synergy, 20–24.
- Martinez, S. M., Webb, K., Frongillo, E. A., & Ritchie, L. D. (2018). Food insecurity in California's public university system: What are the risk factors? *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 13(1), 1. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-

com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=128134139&site=eds-live&scope=site

- McAlister, A. L., Perry, C. L.,&Parcel, G. S. (2008). How individuals, environments, and health behaviors interact: Social cognitive theory. In: Viswanath K, editor; Glanz, K., Rimer, B.K., editors. *Health Behavior and Health Education:* Theory, research, and practice. 4th ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, 169–188.
- McKenzie, F. J., Neiger, L. B., & Thackeray, R. (2009). *Planning, Implementing and Evaluating Health Promotion Programs (5th ed.).* San Francisco, CA: Pearson Education Inc.,
- Michael, R. S. (n.d.). Threats to internal & external validity: Strategies for educational inquiry. Retrieved from

http://www.indiana.edu/~educy520/sec5982/week_9/520in_ex_validity.pdf

- Nanny, M. S., Lytle, L. A., Farbakhsh, K., Moe, S. G., Linde, J. A., & Gardner J. K, et al. (2015). Weight and weight related behavior among 2-year college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 63(4), 221-229.
- National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention. (2015, June 16). *Adult Obesity Causes & Consequences*. http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/causes.html
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2013). *National health and nutrition examination survey*, 2013–2014. http:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/changes/nhanes13

14/2013-14 overview brochure.pdf

National Center for Health Statistics. (2018). NCHS Data Briefs.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs.htm

National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. Current term enrollment report (2015).

http://nscresearchcenter.org/currenttermenrollmentestimate-spring2015/

- Ndumele, C. E., Matsushita, K., Lazo, M., Bello, N., Blumenthal, R. S., Gerstenblith, G.,
 &...Coresh, J. (2016). Obesity and subtypes of incident cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American Heart Association 5*, e003921. doi:10.1161/JAHA.116.003921
- Nerud, K., & Samra, H. A. (2017). Make a more intervention to reduce childhood obesity. *Journal of School of Nursing*, *33*(3), 205-213. doi: 10.1177/1059848516665217.
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N., Margono, C. Gakidou, E. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet, 384*(9945), 766–781. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60460-8
- Noonan, A. S., Velasco-Mondragon, H. E., & Wagner, F. A. (2016). Improving the health of African Americans in the USA: an overdue opportunity for social justice. *Public Health Reviews (2107-6952), 37*(1), 1–20. https://doi

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s40985-016-0025-4

- Odlaug, B. L., Lust, K., Wimmelmann, C. L., Chamberlain, S. R., Mortensen, E. L., Derbyshire, K., ... Grant, J. E. (2015). Prevalence and correlates of being overweight or obese in college. *Psychiatry Research*, 227(1), 58–64.
- OECD. (2017). Obesity Update.

https://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/ Obesity-Update-2017.pdf

- OCED. (2019). Education at a Glance 2019: *Putting U.S. data in Global Context*. https://nces.ed.gov/blogs/nces/post/education-at-a-glance-2019-putting-u-s-data-in-a-global-context
- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Flegal, K. M. (2014). Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *Journal of the American Medical*

Association, 311(8), 806-814. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.732

Pampel, F. C., Krueger, P. M., & Denney, J. T. (2014). Socioeconomic status and health behaviors. In The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of health, illness, behavior, and society (pp. 2223-2227). doi: 10.1002/9781118410868.wbehibs54

Park, S. (2017). Pathways linking obesity to health-related quality of life. Quality of Life. *Research, 26*(8), 2209–2218.

https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s11136-017-1565-x

- Parker, K., Lenhart, A., Moore, K. (August 28, 2011). The digital revolution and higher education. *Pew Internet and American Life Project*. Retrieved from http:// pewinternet.org/Reports/2011/College-presidents/Report/Overview.aspx
- Parry, L. (2015). Obesity is STILL on the rise in the US as women overtake men. Retrieved from https://www.dailymail.co.uk/health/article-3314411/Obesity-rising-US-adults-womenovertake-men.html
- Pauline, J. (2015). Physical activity behaviors, motivation, and self-efficacy among college students. *College Student Journal*, 47(1), 64-74. Retrieved from http://connection.ebscohost.com/c/articles/92757384/physical-activity-behaviorsmotivation-self-efficacy-among-college-students
- PR, N. (2013, December 10). New Walden University Study Reveals Six Distinct Types of Social Change Agents Around the World. PR Newswire US.

Qualtrics. (2020). Calculating Sample Size.

Qualtrics https://www.qualtrics.com/blog/calculating-sample-size/,

Rieber, L. P. (2017). Participation patterns in a massive open online course (MOOC) about statistics. *British Journal of educational technology*, *48*(6), 1295-1304.

- Robinson, W. R., Kershaw, K. N., Mezuk, B., Rafferty, J., Lee, H., Johnson-Lawrence, V., ... Jackson, J. S. (2015). Coming unmoored: disproportionate increases in obesity prevalence among young, disadvantaged white women. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 23(1), 213–219. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/oby.20913
- Rohrer J, Cole L, Schulze F. Cigarettes and self-rated health among online university students. *J Immigr Minor Health. 2012;*14:502-505. doi: 10.1007/s10903-011-9564-4.
- Rovniak, L.S., Anderson, E.S., Winett, R.A. & Stephens, R.S. (2002). Social cognitive determinants of physical activity in young adults: A prospective structural equation analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *24*(2), 149-156.

doi:10.1207/S15324796ABM2402_12

- Rozjabek, H., Fastenau, J., LaPrade, A., & Sternbach, N. (2020). Adult Obesity and Health-Related Quality of Life, Patient Activation, Work Productivity, and Weight Loss
 Behaviors in the United States. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome & Obesity: Targets & Therapy*, 13, 2049.
- Sari, S. V., & Aydin, B. (2014). Problematic Internet Use and Body Mass Index in University Students. *Eurasian Journal Of Educational Research*, (54), 135-150.
- Sari, N., & Acan Osman, B. (2018). The effect of body weight on employment among Canadian women: evidence from Canadian data. *Canadian Journal Of Public Health = Revue Canadienne De Sante Publique, 109(5–6),* 873–881. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.17269/s41997-018-0097-7
- Seymour-Walsh, A. E., Bell, A., Weber, A., & Smith, T. (2020). Adapting to a new reality:
 COVID-19 coronavirus and online education in the health professions. *Rural & Remote Health*, 20(2), 1–6.

- Sassi, F., Devaux, M., Church, J., Cecchini, M., & Borgonovi, F. (2009). *Education and obesity in four OECD countries*.
- Stephan, U., Patterson, M., Kelly, C., & Mair, J. (2016). Organizations Driving Positive Social Change: A Review and an Integrative Framework of Change Processes. *Journal Of Management*, 42(5), 1250-1281.
- Stevens, J. P. (2016). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (6th ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Routledge Academic.
- Strong, M. S., Serena, L., Anderson, R., Winett, R., Davy, B. (2008). Weight gain prevention: Identifying theory-based targets for health behavior change in young adults. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 108(10), 1708-1715.
- Swanson, W. M. (2016). An opportunity to combat obesity lies in the at-risk college population. *Journal Of The American Association Of Nurse Practitioners, 28*(4), 196-
- 203. doi:10.1002/2327-6924.12360
- Sun, M., Feng, W., Wang, F., Li, P., Li, Z., Li, M., ... & Tse, L. A. (2018). Meta-analysis on shift work and risks of specific obesity types. *Obesity Reviews*, 19(1), 28-40.

SurveyMonkey. (2019). Create survey.

https://www.surveymonkey.com/create/?ut_source=create_survey&ut_source2=header SurveyMonkey. (2020).

https://www.surveymonkey.com/dashboard/

SurveyMonkey. (2020). SPSS Exports.

https://help.surveymonkey.com/articles/en_US/kb/SPSS-Exports

Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2007). Experimental Designs using ANOVA. Belmont, CA: Duxbury.

- Tam, C. F., Xi, E., Chan, V., & Gouzoubachian, A. (2017). An inverse correlation between fruit and vegetable consumption and BMI among college female and male students. *College Student Journal, (3),* 407. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgea&AN=edsgcl.50701210 &site=eds-live&scope=site
- The State of Obesity. (2014a). *Obesity prevention in black communities*. http://stateofobesity.org/disparities/blacks/
- The State of Obesity. (2014b). *Obesity prevention in Latino communities*. http://stateofobesity.org/disparities/latinos/
- Thomas, J. R., Nelson, J. K. & Silverman, S. J. (2015). *Research methods in physical activity (7th ed)*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Truthmann, J., Mensink, G. B. M., Bosy-Westphal, A., Hapke, U., Scheidt-Nave, C., &
 Schienkiewitz, A. (2017). Physical health-related quality of life in relation to metabolic health and obesity among men and women in Germany. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes, 15*, 1–7. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0688-7
- Tse, L. A., Li, Z., Zhang, L., Sun, M., & Wang, F. (2018). 1348 Night shift work, body weight gain and obesity occurrence: preliminary results with 3 years of follow-up.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2017b). Integrated postsecondary education data system (IPEDS), *IPEDS spring 2017*, fall enrollment component. Education statistics 2017, table 306.10
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2013). *Healthy People 2020*. http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/default.aspx

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (2015). *Healthy people 2020: National health promotion and disease prevention objectives*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office. https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/data-search/
- Ugnich, E., Meskhi, B., & Ponomareva, S. (2019). E-learning in higher inclusive education: needs, opportunities, and limitations. *International Journal of Educational Management, (just-accepted)*, 00-00
- Ulhôa, M. A., Marqueze, E. C., Burgos, L. G. A., & Moreno, C. R. D. C. (2015). Shift work and endocrine disorders. *International journal of endocrinology*, 2015.
- Van Dyck, D., Cerin, E., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Hinckson, E., Reis, R. S., Davey, R., ... & Salvo, D. (2015). International study of objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time with body mass index and obesity: IPEN adult study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 39(2), 199.

Walden University. (2015). Social Change. https://www.waldenu.edu/about/social-change

- Wang, L., Southerland, J., Wang, K., Bailey, B. A., Alamian, A., Stevens, M. A., & Wang, Y.
 (2017). Ethnic differences in risk factors for obesity among adults in California, the United States. *Journal of obesity*, 2017.
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Watson, T., Malan, H., Glik, D. (2017). College students identify food literacy as a key strategy to address food insecurity on campus. *California Agriculture* 71(3): 130–138.
- Whitesitt, J. (1961). Boolean algebra and its applications. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley
- Wilkins, J., Ghosh, P., Vivar, J., Chakraborty, B., & Ghosh, S. (2018). Exploring the

associations between systemic inflammation, obesity and healthy days: a health related quality of life (HRQOL) analysis of NHANES 2005–2008. *BMC Obesity*, *(1)*, 1. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s40608-018-0196-2

- World Health Organization. (2004). World Health Assembly adopts global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. *Nutrition & Food Science, (5)*. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/nfs.2004.01734eab.024
- World Health Organization. (2013). Overweight/obesity: *Obesity (body mass index, 30) by country*. http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node. main.
- World Health Organization. (2019). *Obesity and Overweight*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Physical Activity*. https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/pa/en/
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Physical Activity*. https://www.who.int/health-topics/physical-activity
- Xie, K., & Huang, K. (2014). The role of beliefs and motivation in asynchronous online learning in college level classes. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 50(3), 315–341. http://dx.doi.org/10.2190/EC.50.3.b
- Yin, S., Njai, R., Barker, L., Siegel, P. Z., & Liao, Y. (2016). Summarizing health-related quality of life (HRQOL): development and testing of a one-factor model. *Population Health Metrics*, 14. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12963-016-0091-3
- Yob, I., & Prewer, P. (2015). Working toward the common good: an online university's perspective on social change, 1-25

Zhang, J., Xu, L., Li, J., Sun, L., Qin, W., Ding, G., ... Zhou, C. (2019). Gender differences in the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life among adults:a cross-sectional study in Shandong, China. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 1021. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7351-7

Appendix A: Survey

Demographics

The templates for the demographic questions was adopted from the BRFSS of the CDC. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/questionnaires/pdf-ques/2017_BRFSS_Pub_Ques_508_tagged.pdf</u>.

Please identify the higher institution where you registered as an online student?

- [HEI 1]
- [HEI 2]
- [HEI 3]

Which of the following is most closely related to your program of study?

- Business and Management
- Communication
- Criminal Justice and Emergency Management
- Education
- Health and Health Sciences
- Information Technology
- Nursing
- Psychology and Counseling
- Public Policy and Administration
- Social Work and Human Services

How tall are you without your shoes on?

• _____ feet _____ inches or _____ cm

How much do you weigh without your shoes on?

• _____ pounds or _____ Kg

What is your gender?

- Male
- Female

What was your age on your last birthday?

Are you Hispanic, Latino/a, or Spanish origin?

- A) If yes, are you
 - Mexican, Mexican American

- Chicano/a Puerto Rican
- Cuba
- Another Hispanic, Latino/a, or Spanish origin
- B) No

Which one of these groups would you say best represents your race?

- White
- Black or African American
- American Indian or Alaska Native
- Asian
- Pacific Islander

In what county do you currently live?

- U.S. resident
- Non-U.S. Resident

If not U.S, where you currently live?

Identify your employment status?

- Employed
- Student only

HRQOL-Scale

In general, would you say that your overall health is?

- Excellent
- Very Good
- Good
- Fair
- Poor
- Prefer not to answer

Now thinking about your physical health, which includes physical illness and injury, how many days during the past 30 days was your physical health not good?

- ____ days
- Prefer not to answer

Now thinking about your mental health, which includes stress, depression, and problems with emotions, how many days during the past 30 days was your mental health not good?

- days •
- Prefer not to answer •

During the past 30 days, approximately how many days did poor physical or mental health keep you from doing your usual activities, such as self-care, work, or recreation?

- days
- Prefer not to answer

IPAO

The questions will ask you about the time you spent being physically active in the last 7 days. Please answer each question even if you do not consider yourself to be an active person. Please think about the activities you do at work, as part of your house and yard work, to get from place to place, and in your spare time for recreation, exercise or sport.

Think about all the vigorous activities that you did in the last 7 days. Vigorous physical activities refer to activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal. Think only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

1) During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, or fast bicycling?

days per week

No vigorous physical activities Skip to question 3

- 2) How much time did you usually spend doing vigorous physical activities on one of those days?
- hours per day _____ minutes per day _____ mow/Not sure

Think about all the moderate activities that you did in the last 7 days. Moderate activities refer to activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal. Think only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

3) During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do moderate physical activities like carrying light loads, bicycling at a regular pace, or doubles tennis? Do not include walking.

days per week

- 4) How much time did you usually spend doing moderate physical activities on one of those days?
- _____ hours per day _____ minutes per day
- Don't know/Not sure

Think about the time you spent walking in the last 7 days. This includes at work and at home, walking to travel from place to place, and any other walking that you have done solely for recreation, sport, exercise, or leisure.

5) During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time?

_____ days per week

No walking Skip to question 7

- 6) How much time did you usually spend walking on one of those days?
- ____ hours per day ____ minutes per day
- Don't know/Not sure

The last question is about the time you spent sitting on weekdays during the last 7 days. Include time spent at work, at home, while doing course work and during leisure time. This may include time spent sitting at a desk, visiting friends, reading, or sitting or lying down to watch television.

- 7) During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?
- _____ hours per day _____ minutes per day
- Don't know/Not sure

This is the end of the questionnaire, thank you for participating.

4. How tall are you without your shoes on?

_____ feet _____ inches or _____ cm

5. How much do you weigh without your shoes on?

_____ pounds or _____ Kg

6. What is your sex?

🔵 Male

🔵 Female

8. Are you Hispanic, Latino/a, or Spanish origin?

🔿 Yes-Mexican, Mexican American

- 🔘 Yes- Chicano/a Puerto Rican
- 🔘 Yes-Cuba
- 🔘 Yes-Another Hispanic, Latino/a, or Spanish origin
- 🔿 No

9. Which one of these groups would you say best represents your race?

- 🔿 White
- O Black or African American

Health Related Quality of Life (HRQOL)-Scale

- 13. In general, would you say that your overall health is?
- ⊖ Excellent
- 🔘 Very Good
- \bigcirc Good
- 🔘 Fair
- O Poor
- Prefer not to answer

18. How much time did you usually spend doing vigorous physical activities on one of those days?

| hours/day | |
|---------------------|--|
| minutes/day | |
| Don't know/Not sure | |

Appendix B: Description of Operational Measures

Description of operational measures for quality of life , physical activity level, weight status, and demographic factors

| Variables | Survey Question | Response Category | Type of |
|-----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| | | | Variable |
| Weight Status | Height-weight | 0 Underweight-normal weight | Categorical |
| | | 1 Overweight-Obese | |
| Gender | Self-identified | 0 Male | Nominal |
| | gender | 1 Female | |
| Age | Age in Years | Age 18 – 24 years Age 25 – | Ordinal |
| | | 34 Age 35 - 44 Age 45 - 54 Age 55 - 64 Age 65 or older | Categorical |
| Race/Ethnicity | Group best represents race | 0 Black or African American 1 White 2 Hispanic/Mexican 4 Asian 5 American Indian, Alaska Native 6 Other Notes: Specify 9 Refused | Nominal |
| Geographical location | U.S. or Non-U.S. | 0 U.S. 1 non-U.S. | Nominal |
| Employment status | | 0 employed 1 student only | Categorical |
| Program of Study | | 0 health and health sciences 1 psychology 2 nursing 3 counseling 4 business 5 communication 6 criminal Justice | Categorical |

| | 7 education | |
|-------|---------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| | 8 information technology | |
| | 9 public policy and | |
| | administration | |
| | 10 social work and human | |
| | services | |
| HRQOL | 0 excellent, very good, good; | Categorical |
| | 1 fair, poor; unhealthy days | |
| | 0 No unhealthy days 1 number of unhealthy days | Numerical |
| | | |
| IPAQ | 0 Low level | Categorical |
| | 1 Moderate level | |
| | 2 High Level | |